Runa Heimstad

# Post-term pregnancy

Thesis for the degree of philosophiae doctor

Trondheim, December 2007

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine, Children's and Women's Health



NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the degree of philosophiae doctor

Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine, Children's and Women's Health

©Runa Heimstad

ISBN 978-82-471-5398-7 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-471-5403-8 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181

Theses at NTNU, 2007:242

Printed by Tapir Uttrykk

# **OVERTIDIG SVANGERSKAP**

Overtidig svangerskap er å betrakte som et risikosvangerskap. Studier har vist at det ved overtid er økt risiko for død i mors mage og i nyfødtperioden. I mange land settes derfor fødselen i gang en uke etter at terminen er passert, men i Skandinavia er det tradisjon for å la svangerskapet fortsette 2-3 uker etter at terminen er passert. Studier har vist at det å sette fødselen i gang også er forbundet med komplikasjoner for mor og barn. Behandlingen av det ellers ukompliserte overtidige svangerskap er kontroversiell.

#### Avhandlingen består av 4 delstudier.

I den første studien undersøkte vi hvordan det gikk med mor og barn i forhold til hvilken svangerskapsuke fødselen skjedde. Vi undersøkte også om det var forskjellige resultater for mor og barn om fødselen startet av seg selv eller ble igangsatt. Alle kvinner som fødte etter 37. svangerskapsuke ved St.Olavs Hospital i perioden 1990-2001 ble inkludert. Resultatene viste at komplikasjoner hos mor varierte med svangerskapslengden, og var lavest en uke før termin og høyest når svangerskapet var overtidig. Komplikasjoner for barnet varierte med svangerskapslengde bare hvis fødselen startet av seg selv. Igangsetting av fødsel var en risiko for komplikasjoner uavhengig av svangerskapslengde.

Den andre studien sammenlignet sykelighet hos barna og komplikasjoner hos mor hvis fødselen ble satt i gang en uke over termin eller svangerskapet ble kontrollert hver 3. dag til hun var nesten 3 uker over terminen. Kvinnene trakk lodd om hvilken gruppe de skulle komme i, og til sammen deltok 508 kvinner. Sykeligheten hos barna var den samme i begge grupper. Det var flere raske fødsler i gruppen som fikk fødselen igangsatt, men det var det ingen forskjell på forekomsten av komplikasjoner mellom gruppene. Keisersnittfrekvensen var lav.

Kvinnene som deltok i den andre studien ble intervjuet om sitt syn på overtidig svangerskap når de ble inkludert. Dette ble gjentatt 6-8 måneder etter fødselen, og de ble da også spurt om hvilke erfaringer de hadde gjort seg og hvordan de ønsket å bli fulgt opp i et evt. fremtidig overtidig svangerskap. En uke over termin svarte 74% at de ønsket å få fødselen igangsatt. De fleste (84%) som fikk fødselen igangsatt rapporterte at dette var en positiv opplevelse, og 74% ønsket å bli igangsatt hvis de skulle bli overtidig i et fremtidig svangerskap. Bare 38% av de som kom i ventegruppen ønsket å vente. I gruppen som ble igangsatt var det flere raske fødsler, og kvinnene anga at riene var mer intense og hyppige i denne gruppen sammenlignet med ventegruppen.

I den siste studien så vi på data fra Medisinsk Fødselsregister for alle fødsler etter 41 uker i Norge i perioden 1999-2005. Vi ønsket å studere forekomsten av fosterdød i mors mage og død i tidlig nyfødtperiode og regne ut hvor mange fødsler man måtte sette i gang for eventuelt å unngå 1 dødsfall. Forekomsten av dødsfall var lav, men økte med svangerskapslengden. Ved uke 41 må man sette i gang > 500 fødsler for å unngå 1 dødsfall, ved uke 43 < 200. Hvis vi i Norge skal sette alle fødsler i gang ved 41 uker, vil dette medføre > 14.000 igangsettinger i året.

Navn kandidat:Runa HeimstadInstitutt:Institutt for laboratoriemedisin, barne- og kvinnesykdommerVeiledere:Kjell Å. Salvesen, Eirik Skogvoll, Sturla Eik-Nes, Lars-ÅkeMattsson

Ovennevnte avhandling er funnet verdig til å forsvares offentlig for graden PhD i klinisk medisin Disputas finner sted i Auditoriet, Laboratoriesenteret, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim Fredag 7.desember2007, kl. 12.15.

# Table of contents

1	Acknowledgements						
2	List of papers						
3	Abbreviations						
4	Introduction						
4	.1	Definition	12				
	4.2	Gestational length	12				
	4.2.1	Estimation of day of delivery	12				
	4.2.2	Duration of pregnancy	14				
	4.2.3	Discrepancy between LMP and EDD by scan	15				
4	.3	Etiology	16				
	4.3.1	Risk factors for post-term pregnancy	16				
	4.3.2	Genetics	17				
	4.3.3	Hormones	17				
	4.3.4	Start of labour	19				
4	4	Prevalence of post-term pregnancies	20				
4	5	Complications of post-term pregnancy	21				
	451	Perinatal and neonatal mortality	21				
	452	Neonatal morhidity	22				
	453	Long term outcome for children	23				
	4.5.5 1 5 1	Maternal outcome	23				
4	4.5.4	Management protocols	$\frac{27}{24}$				
	161	CTG	25				
	4.0.1	Amniotic fluid	26				
	4.0.2	Ammone Juna	20				
	4.0.5	Donnlar ultrasound	21				
	4.0.4	Convix	20				
	4.0.5	Cerra	20				
	4.0.	5.1 Distribution Store	20				
	4.0.	5.2 Fibernastin	21				
	4.0.	5.4 In the line area to be a final and the final and the final sector of the line of the l	21				
	4.0.	.5.4 Insum-like growin factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1)	21				
4	471		32				
	4.7.1	methoas.	22				
~	4./.2	Economical considerations	33				
2	Basis	for the study	35				
6	Aims	of the studies	3/				
6	0.1		3/				
6	0.2	Study 2	3/				
6	0.3	Study 3	38				
_ 6	0.4 G 1 ·	Study 4	38				
./	Subjec	and methods	38				
1	.1	Study I	38				
7	.2	Study 2 and 3	38				
7	.3	Study 4	39				
7	.4	Statistics	40				
	7.4.1	Statistical analyses	40				
	7.4.2	Sample size estimation	40				
8	Main	results	41				
8	.1	Study 1	41				
8	8.2 Study 2						
8	.3	Study 3	42				
8	5.4	Study 4	42				

)	Discussion and interpretation of the results	
10	Conclusions	
1	Final reflections and future aspects	
12	Corrections	
13	References	
4	Papers	

# **1** Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis was financed from and performed at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, St.Olavs Hospital, University Hospital of Trondheim. I offer my sincere thanks to the head of the department *Fredrik Sunde* and section leader *Anne Lise Beversmark* who provided the facilities and support necessary to accomplish the project. Financial support has also been provided from the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Children's and Women's Health, NTNU by professor *Helge Klungland*. I would also like to thank Medix Biochemica, Finland for supplies of Partus tests free of charge.

Many people have contributed in a variety of ways to completion of this study; The kind and positive attitude I met from the women included in Study 2 and 3 were overwhelming.

First and foremost I thank my principal supervisor *Kjell Å*. *Salvesen*. As head of the department he enabled me to combine research and clinical work. He gave me time to carry this work through, even if this implied a double clinical workload for himself. He has inexhaustible energy and is always busy, but I feel he tried to give my need for supervision high priority. His linguistic talent is outstanding, and the quick revision of the manuscripts was highly appreciated. I am proud and privileged to have *Pepe* as my supervisor, boss and friend.

My supervisor *Eirik Skogvoll* is the one to honour for developing the NEMO-score. His enthusiasm and willingness to work for the project was never ending, and the hours spent on quality assurance of the data were numerous. His knowledge in statistics and neonatology is impressing. Thank you for always believing in me and the project.

Co-author *Pål Romundstad* answered my endless statistical questions with impressive patience. His ability to make statistics understandable, his pleasant manner and laid back attitude, made the atmosphere for cooperation very comfortable.

My supervisor *Lars-Åke Mattsson* gave me the opportunity to start the researchproject, and gave valuable contribution on study design and organizing of the study. His humour and special gift to let everyone around him feel comfortable is admirable.

*Sturla Eik-Nes* is one of the really great pioneers, who I was happy to have as a cotutor. His knowledge and clear thoughts made his supervision very valuable.

*Ole Jakob Johansen*, my co-author and most experienced pediatrician in our region, registered and examined the great majority of the neonates. Thanks also to *Beth Theting* who did the remaining.

Of the utmost importance was the teamwork we had at the outpatient unit, where especially *Liv Lorås, Vigdis Myhren, Hildegunn Melum, Kari How* and *Hilde Oksfjellelv,* but also *Ann- Irene Lerfald, Ingebjørg Nes, Hilde Bringedal, May Anita Ulvund Husøy* and *Ingebjørg Laache* made great efforts in including women and do all the extra work the trial implicated. A big thank you for the midwives at NSFM as well; *Gerd Inger Lånke, Anne Britt Sellevold, Bente Simensen, Ingvild Aune, Josefa Anonuevo, Randi Ytre-Eide* and *Liv Øyen* who performed all the ultrasound examinations.

*Hege Wesche* and *Berit Kvamme Aune* daily helped me to track down eligible women, and *Karin Thrana* performed phone-interviews. A big thank you to all the other secretaries and midwives at the delivery unit and NSFM as well- always willing to help whenever needed. Thank you *Martin, Frida, Kristine and Pål-Erik* for all the hours you spent to scan and copy articles and questionnaires.

*Nancy Lea Eik-Nes* revised Paper 1 and she was happy to share her knowledge on how to write medical research papers.

I look forward to future cooperation with *Sven Carlsen, who* advised me to take blood samples from the women in Study 2, and who is my supervisor in endocrinology.

Thanks to my good friend *Anne Brantberg* for joyous company and for introducing me to *Jon Hyett*. My co-author *Jon Hyett* is one of the most pleasant persons I have ever met, who I was happy to work with at Royal Women's Hospital, Brisbane, Australia. I am forever in debt of gratitude for everything he did for me and my family during our stay in Brisbane.

*Eszter Vanky* is a close friend who has contributed to this thesis in several ways; Always sharing her experience from her own research, supporting and caring for my wellbeing. My fabulous colleagues and friends *Irina Eide* and *Marit Martinussen* have been the framework in my daily work. *Irina* is an excellent clinician with a heart of gold, and *Marit* is very much appreciated for being so thought-through and analytic: Thanks for always supporting and cheering me up. To former and present colleagues: A big thank you for helping me with the project – and for contributing to the fantastic work environment we have at the Delivery unit.

In the air is still Kristine's question: Do you really need this book mum?

# 2 List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers:

I Study 1:

Outcomes of pregnancy beyond 37 weeks of gestation. Runa Heimstad, Pål R. Romundstad, Sturla H. Eik-Nes, Kjell Å. Salvesen. Obstet Gynecol. 2006 Sep;108(3 Pt 1):500-8.

II Study 2:

Induction of labour or serial antenatal fetal monitoring in postterm pregnancy: A randomized controlled trial Runa Heimstad, Eirik Skogvoll, Lars-Åke Mattsson, Ole Jakob Johansen, Sturla H. Eik-Nes, Kjell Å. Salvesen. Obstet Gynecol 2007;109(3):609-17.

III Study 3:

Women's experiences and attitudes towards expectant management and induction of labour for post-term pregnancy.

Runa Heimstad, Pål R. Romundstad, Jon Hyett, Lars-Åke Mattsson, Kjell Å. Salvesen. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2007,1-7, iFirst Article

# IV Study 4:

Induction of labour for post-term pregnancy and risk estimates for intrauterine- and perinatal death.

9

Runa Heimstad, Pål R. Romundstad, Kjell Å. Salvesen.

Submitted.

# 3 Abbreviations

AFI	Amniotic fluid index
AGA	Appropriate for gestational age
BMI	Body Mass Index
BPD	Biparietal Diameter
CI	Confidence Interval
CMPP	Canadian Multicenter Post-term pregnancy
CRL	Crown rump length
CTG	Cardiotocography
DHEA-S	Dehydroepiandrostendion-sulphate
EDD	Estimated Date of Delivery
FHR	Fetal heart rate
FL	Femur length
IUFD	Intrauterine fetal death
IVF	In vitro fertilization
LMP	Last Menstrual Period
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
NNT	Number needed to treat
OR	Odds Ratio
PGE	Prostaglandin E
PGF	Prostaglandin F
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RR	Relative Risk
SD	Standard Deviation
SGA	Small for Gestational Age
WHO	World Health Organization

# 4 Introduction

The most famous post-term delivery in the past was the delivery of Princess Charlotte Augusta of Wales in 1817. She was the only eligible heir to the British throne, and when her pregnancy was announced, the entire nation was closely following the most important event of that time.

At approximately 43 weeks her water broke and labour soon began spontaneously. Contractions were weak and the first stage of labour lasted more than 50 hours. Gradually, the fluid became meconium stained. After 24 hours in the second stage of labour and after five hours of active pushing, she spontaneously delivered a stillborn boy. The baby appeared to have been dead for several hours. During the third stage, placenta was retained, and she had a post-partum haemorrhage from uterine atony. Princess Charlotte died approximately six hours after delivery.

Three months later her obstetrician, Dr. Croft, committed suicide, unable to bear the burden of the responsibility for the death of the British heir to the throne.<sup>1</sup>

As this event resulted in the death of an infant, the mother and her physician, it has historically been referred to as the *"The Triple Obstetric Tragedy."* 



Princess Charlotte Augusta of Wales



# 4.1 Definition

Post-term pregnancy is defined by WHO and FIGO as a pregnancy with a gestational length of 294 days or more (i.e. 42 completed weeks or more).<sup>2, 3</sup> In a survey to all birth units in Norway in 2003, only 6 of 43 units defined post-term pregnancy according to WHO, and the majority of units (37/43) defined post-term pregnancy as 296 days or more.<sup>4</sup> In some international studies, however, post-term is used for women at a gestational age of 41 weeks.<sup>5-7</sup>

Postmaturity (or postmaturity syndrome) is a clinical condition describing an infant born post-term with a poorly functioning placenta. The infant usually appears long and thin, with dry scaly skin and long finger nails, and in some cases there are meconium staining of the skin and membranes. It has been suggested that postmaturity syndrome is really just fetal growth restriction in post-term fetuses.<sup>6</sup>

# 4.2 Gestational length

## 4.2.1 Estimation of day of delivery

Hermann Boerhaave (1668-1738) was Professor of Botany and Medicine at the University of Leyden. He was the first to set down the calculation from which Naegele's rule evolved. In the Academic lectures of Hermann Boerhaave "On conception" (published in 1744), the relevant passage translates as follows: "Women for the most part are impregnated after the end of their period: Numerous experiments undertaken in France confirm this: for of one hundred births altogether, ninety-nine came about in the ninth month after the last menstruation by counting one week after the last period and by reckoning the nine months of gestation from that time."<sup>8</sup>

Franz Carl Naegele (1778-1851), Professor of Obstetrics at the University of Heidelberg, quoted this statement in his text from 1812 and also made his own observations on the ability and timing of conception in women. Naegele's rule assumes a 28-day-cycle with ovulation on day fourteen. By adding seven to the first day of the last menstrual period and counting back three months the expected date of confinement is reached. This is the method by which Naegele's rule has been calculated during this century. It is possible that Boerhaave and Naegele have been misinterpreted, and that their original rule may have been

to add seven days to the end rather than the beginning of the last menstrual period. This would achieve the same result as ultrasound with respect to induction of labour for post-term pregnancy.<sup>8</sup>

However, only 10-40% of women can recall the exact date of the first day of their last menstrual period (LMP), and the LMP estimated date of delivery (EDD) might be biased of amenorrhea, irregular menstrual cycles or use of oral contraceptives.<sup>9,10</sup> Due to the unreliability of this method, new technology and methods have been introduced to estimate date of delivery during the last decades. Ultrasound estimation of gestational age is based on the assumption that early fetal growth is uniform in all fetuses. Blaas et al. showed that first trimester embryos have parallel growth irrespective of their menstrual age, implying that embryos of the same size have approximately the same age.<sup>11</sup> The first reliable method of predicting gestational age based on ultrasonic measurement of the biparietal diameter (BPD) was described in 1969 by Campbell.<sup>12</sup> Several studies have indicated that ultrasonic measurements of BPD, crown-rump length (CRL) or femur length (FL) are better than the LMP to predict the day of delivery.<sup>13-16</sup> There are several formulas and methods of estimating the date of delivery by ultrasound, and the best method is still a matter of discussion.<sup>17-19</sup> Ultrasound is also found to be a reliable method in pregnancies conceived with assisted reproductive techniques, and assessment of gestational age from the time of IVF, CRL and BPD showed equally high agreement between the three methods.<sup>20</sup> Today ultrasound is the method of choice for dating pregnancy, and the technology is available in most countries worldwide.<sup>21</sup> In Norway this is an offer provided by the health care system and 97% of pregnant women attend the routine ultrasound screening around 18 weeks.<sup>10</sup>

Several studies have demonstrated that LMP dates systematically overestimate gestational age compared with scan dates, suggesting that most pregnancies considered to be post-term according to LMP are in fact misdated.<sup>10, 22, 23</sup> The most prominent difference in the distributions of births is the absence of the tail of post-term births for ultrasound dated pregnancies.<sup>10</sup> In a study by Blondel et al., the proportion of births  $\geq$ 42 weeks was 6.4% when the LMP method was used, but only 1.9% when ultrasound was used.<sup>24</sup> Similar results were found in a Norwegian study by Tunon et al. (10% versus 4%, p<0.001).<sup>10</sup> Routine ultrasound examination in early pregnancy results in reduced incidence of induction of labour for apparent post-term pregnancy.<sup>25, 26</sup> In a study by Eik-Nes et al. there was a 70% reduction in the incidence of induced labour for apparent post-term pregnancies for women who were routinely screened with ultrasound compared to women who did not receive ultrasound routinely.<sup>27</sup>

In addition to LMP and ultrasound, gestational age can be determined by physical examination of the uterus, when the pregnancy test was first positive or a combination of several different methods. Some studies on post-term pregnancy have used several methods to estimate gestational age, which makes it difficult to interpret the results.<sup>28, 29</sup> In the Canadian Multicenter Post-term pregnancy trial (CMPP) the following methods to determine gestational age was used: according to LMP if the woman had had regular cycles without use of oral contraceptives or the known date of conception, confirmed by a pregnancy test at < 6 weeks, a physical examination at  $\leq$  20 weeks or ultrasound at  $\leq$  26 weeks; by ultrasound at  $\leq$  26 weeks if LMP was uncertain; or by ultrasound on two occasions at  $\leq$  26 weeks that resulted in consistent estimates of gestational age, if LMP was unknown.<sup>30</sup>

#### 4.2.2 Duration of pregnancy

For many centuries it has been accepted that the normal gestational period for humans is nine calendar months. The more exact duration of a pregnancy has been topic for research and discussion for years.<sup>8, 15, 31</sup> WHO has defined the length of pregnancy to be 280 days, which is a slight modification of Naegele's rule.<sup>2</sup> However, several studies suggest that duration of pregnancy should be 281-283 days.<sup>10, 31</sup> Deliveries are not normally distributed. Thus, mean values of duration of pregnancies must be inaccurate. The median value implies that 50% deliver before and 50% after that day, whereas the mode value represents the day most women deliver. In the study with data from the Swedish Birth Registry from 1976-1980, the mean duration of pregnancy was 281 days, mode 282 days and median 282. In a Danish study the median gestational age at delivery, estimated by ultrasound in the first and second trimesters and by corrected LMP according to cycle length, were 282, 280 and 283 days respectively.<sup>32</sup> When dating methods are compared, elective deliveries may influence mean, mode and median values of pregnancy length. To avoid this problem some studies only include deliveries with spontaneous onset of labour. A "time to event" analysis with censoring elective deliveries at the time they occur can also be used. In a study by Smith, the median time to delivery from the Kaplan-Meier product estimate was 283 days.<sup>33</sup> A new computerbased estimation of "time to delivery" and estimation of date of delivery has been developed by Eik-Nes et al. (article in press, Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol).

Duration of pregnancy varies in different populations. One theory is that cervical ripening occurs in a timely, species specific manner in which programmed cell death

(apoptosis) may play a role. Apoptosis may be a genetically timed event and could explain the variation of pregnancy length, including the variation between different ethnic groups.<sup>34</sup>

Likewise, duration of pregnancy may vary with the gender of the fetus, although results from different studies are inconsistent. Some have found no difference, whilst others have found that boys tend to be born earlier.<sup>31, 33</sup> In comparison with dating by last menstrual period, the EDD in male-gender pregnancies has been found to be adjusted by ultrasound fetometry to be earlier, and in female-gender pregnancies to be later, with a mean difference of 1.50 days.<sup>35</sup>

In a survey to all birth departments in Norway in 2003, all departments defined 282 days as duration of pregnancy.<sup>4</sup> In daily clinical practice "Snurra" has been widely used for estimating gestational age in Norway. "Snurra" is a practical facility prepared by Eik-Nes and Grøttum and is based on duration of pregnancy of 282 days.

#### 4.2.3 Discrepancy between LMP and EDD by scan

The EDD estimated by ultrasound is usually later than the LMP date. Some studies report that fetuses who are smaller than expected at a second trimester ultrasound examination have a higher risk for bad outcome, but this is disputed by others.<sup>36-38</sup> Tunon et al. compared groups where the EDD by scan differed more than 14 days or less than 7 days from the LMP estimate.<sup>37</sup> They reported no statistically significant differences of perinatal morbidity and mortality. However, they did report a RR of perinatal death of 2.07 with a CI 0.93-4.61, and suggested further studies, as an extensive discrepancy in gestational age could be a marker for fetuses that might benefit from closer monitoring. Nakling and Backe found that a discrepancy between LMP and EDD by scan of more than 14 days was a risk factor for preterm delivery, birth-weight < 2500 g, SGA and perinatal death.<sup>38</sup> It has been claimed that a large discrepancy between LMP and EDD by scan may indicate early disturbances in fetal/placental development and growth restriction. The risk in one study increased significantly with pregnancy length, and at least a part of the increased risk for poor pregnancy outcome in adjusted pregnancies was due to not recognizing true post-term pregnancies.<sup>39</sup>

# 4.3 Etiology

The etiology of post-term pregnancy is not known. Since we do not know the mechanisms for initiating spontaneous labour, the reasons for post-term pregnancy will probably remain unsolved for years to come. Multi-factorial causes have been postulated since explanatory models are unproven.

## 4.3.1 Risk factors for post-term pregnancy

The duration of pregnancy tends to be shorter if the fetus is a boy,<sup>31</sup> but a pregnancy with a male fetus is also a risk factor for post-term pregnancy.<sup>40</sup> The uncorrected OR for having a male baby at  $\geq$  42 weeks was 1.41 (95% CI 1.33–1.49) in one study.<sup>41</sup> After adjusting gestational age by ±0.75 days, the OR was reduced to 0.90 (95% CI 0.84-0.95).<sup>35</sup> The risk for labour induction was increased in male-fetus pregnancies delivered after 41 weeks when gestational age was corrected for fetal gender.<sup>41</sup>

In a Swedish study, the risk of post-term pregnancy also increased if the woman was primiparous.<sup>42</sup> It seems that maternal age is a risk factor. The incidence of deliveries beyond 41 weeks is reported to increase as maternal age increase, but also among teenagers.<sup>42, 43</sup> For multiparous women there is a tendency to deliver post-term more often after a long interpregnancy interval.<sup>44</sup> However, the risk of recurrence of post-term delivery can be reduced when the first and second child have different fathers.<sup>45</sup>

Only a few studies address specific environmental, occupational or life-style exposures and post-term pregnancy. Occupational exposure to ethylene oxide has been reported to increase the risk of both preterm and post-term birth, and after the Chernobyl accident an increase in post-term births was reported in Ukraine and Belarus.<sup>46</sup> Several studies have demonstrated a relation between fish intake and duration of pregnancy, and a Danish study reported that a fish free diet was associated with a reduced risk of post-term delivery.<sup>47</sup> Also smoking has been found to reduce the risk of post-term delivery, and this was most pronounced if gestational age was based on ultrasound.<sup>48</sup> Post-term pregnancy has also been found to be associated with obesity (BMI > 30).<sup>49</sup>



#### 4.3.2 Genetics

Duration of pregnancy varies with ethnicity. The average length of pregnancy is found to be about 5 days shorter in black populations than in white populations.<sup>50</sup> This implicates that the post-term complications and postmaturity syndrome may occur at a shorter gestational age in black populations.

The recurrence risk of post-term delivery can be reduced when the first and second child have different fathers.<sup>45</sup> This suggests that paternal genes may play a role for the gestational length. However, changing a partner is also likely to include changes in environmental factors and a longer interpregnancy interval, and this could be the explanation rather than the paternal genes. In a large Danish study the duration of the first pregnancy of both female and male twins were studied. The results suggested that 23-30% of post-term pregnancies were due to genetic factors, and that only maternal genes influenced pregnancy length.<sup>51</sup>

Studies across generations are difficult because the methods of estimating EDD have changed over time, and the prevalence of post-term pregnancies may vary over generations due to environmental factors. Study results are somewhat conflicting. One study found that if a mother delivered post-term, the relative risk (RR) was moderately increased for her daughter to deliver post-term (RR 1.3, CI 1.0-1.7).<sup>52</sup> Other studies concluded that variability in gestational age could not be determined by genetic factors.<sup>53</sup> In a recent Norwegian study, both paternal and maternal gestational age at birth were found to be related to gestational age of their offspring. However, the association in gestational age was much stronger between mother and child than between father and child.<sup>54</sup> Individual risk factors seem to be more important, as a previous post-term pregnancy increase the risk of a subsequent post-term pregnancy 2-3 times.<sup>52</sup>

#### 4.3.3 Hormones

Some congenital anomalies (anencephaly, trisomies 16 and 18) are associated with post-term delivery. This also applies to conditions that alter the fetal adrenal-pituitary axis (absence of the fetal pituitary or fetal adrenal hypoplasia).<sup>46</sup> The explanation may be that these conditions lack the high concentrations of estrogen seen in normal pregnancies. Some studies have found that maternal levels of estradiol and estriol increase at the time of delivery,<sup>55</sup> whereas others

found no difference.<sup>56</sup> Some have proposed that the estrogen/progesterone-ratio is important for the start of labour, and that the changes in steroid hormone concentrations may occur locally within intrauterine tissues, since both fetal membranes and decidua can syntesize and metabolize estrogen and progesterone.<sup>55</sup>

Progesterone is important for the maintenance of pregnancy, and in many species a progesterone withdrawal will cause delivery.<sup>57</sup> However, there is no decline in plasma progesterone levels in humans at the time of parturition, and progesterone levels continue to increase in pregnant women up to the time of delivery. Nevertheless, a withdrawal of functioning progesterone may be linked to the initiation of the parturition even in humans. Human amnion and chorion have the capacity to convert progesterone by fetal membranes increases with advancing pregnancy and the onset of parturition.<sup>57</sup> This supports the hypothesis that progesterone withdrawal could be mediated by target tissue inactivation. Progesterone withdrawal could also occur through the action of endogenous antiprogesterone. Some studies have demonstrated that anti-progesterone (mifepristone - RU486) can be used to induce labour and ripen the cervix.<sup>59</sup> This is questioned by others.<sup>60</sup> Thus, the role of progesterone in the endocrine regulation of human parturition is still unclear.

It has been proposed that estrogen formed from fetal adrenal androgen is central in the initiation of parturition.<sup>61</sup> When androstenedion infusion was given to pregnant monkeys, an increased level of estradiol and oxytocin were observed, and delivery occurred earlier compared with a control group.<sup>61</sup> A study of the hormonal status in a group of women that underwent induction of labour found a higher level of DHEA-S in the group with favourable cervix than in the group with unfavourable cervix, while the level of estradiol, estriol, cortisol and progesterone were the same.<sup>56</sup> A correlation between DHEA-S and cervical ripeness has later been demonstrated in other studies, and low levels of DHEA-S have been found to predict a need for oxytocin augmentation during labour and unsuccessful labour induction.<sup>62, 63</sup>

As far as we know, there are no studies on hormonal levels in post-term pregnancies. Post-term women may have different hormone status compared with women who deliver at term or preterm. Unpublished data from the Norwegian SGA-study, suggests that women with high levels of androgens during pregnancy tend to deliver earlier than women with low androgen levels, and in particular if the fetus is growth restricted (Carlsen-personal communication).

#### 4.3.4 Start of labour

A fundamental question in human physiology is still unclear: How is the timing of parturition regulated, and what triggers the cascade of events leading to delivery?

In addition to hormones, there are numerous physiological, biochemical and biomechanical factors involved in parturition. The process probably involves the mother, fetus, placenta, membranes, cervix and myometrium.

The association between a father's gestational age at birth and his offspring's gestational age at birth suggests that paternal genes are involved.<sup>54</sup> This supports a hypothesis that the fetus is involved in the onset of labour.

The process of cervical ripening is complex, and only fragments of the process will be discussed here. Anatomical and morphological changes are considerable, and a predominate change in cervical ripening is the rearrangement of collagen.<sup>34</sup> Connective tissue containing collagen and elastin has a characteristic property to reorganize its structure in response to a mechanical stretch or force. During the first stage of labour, mechanical stretching of the cervix occurs with the force of uterine contractions. The mechanical manipulation causes increased levels of prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  which in turn will increase uterine contractions – a physiological response called the Ferguson's reflex.<sup>34</sup> The mechanical pressure exerted on the cervix of the presenting part of the fetus, cause both realignment of the collagen and stretching of the elastic fibres.<sup>34</sup> Collagenases and other matrix metalloproteinases contribute to the reorganization of collagen and cervical ripening. It has been proposed that DHEA-S causes collagenase activation and thereby remodelling of uterine connective tissue.<sup>62</sup> The changes in the extracellular matrix, including a 30 % reduction of the collagen concentration, a 50% decrease in the small proteoglycan decorin and a 15% increase in the large proteoglycan versican contribute to the softening of the cervical tissue.<sup>64</sup> Versican has the capacity to attract water and bind hyaluronan, resulting in disintegration of the collagen bundles and a change in the physical properties. This will produce a soft and elastic tissue and facilitate dilation of the cervix. Decorin, the major proteoglycan in the human cervix, influences collagen fibrillation and rearrangement, and thus, the stiffness of the cervix.<sup>65</sup> Several studies have demonstrated the involvement of different types of matrix metalloproteinases in the cervical ripening process. MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-8 were found to be involved in one study,<sup>64</sup> and MMP-2 and MMP-9 in another study.<sup>66</sup>

It has also been proposed that cervical ripening can be regarded as an inflammatory reaction. The levels of mRNA encoding IL-6, IL-8 and granulocyte colony-stimulation factor

are increased 100-fold during cervical ripening, and prostaglandin degradation occurs.<sup>65</sup> Prostaglandins are involved in the onset of human parturition, and in particular the E and F series have well-established roles in labour. PGE2 is a potent uterotonic agent produced within the amniotic cavity in increased amounts before and during labour and it plays a central role in the cervical ripening process. This will be discussed later in the section about induction of labour. A newly published study suggests that also D-synthase might play important physiological roles in the placenta and potentially having a regulatory role in the processes of parturition.<sup>67</sup> There are, however, several unknown factors, and the knowledge of the complicated physiological process of parturition is still limited.

# 4.4 Prevalence of post-term pregnancies

The reported prevalence of post-term pregnancies vary between 5.5% and 9.5% in different studies, countries and time periods.<sup>68, 69</sup> In Scandinavia, the prevalence has been stable around 7-8% during the last years.<sup>27, 28</sup>

Some studies report decreasing prevalence rates, possibly due to more reliable dating methods or a change in obstetric management towards a more aggressive induction policy. In Spain the prevalence decreased from 8.1% in 1980 to 5% in 1992.<sup>70</sup> The same trend was seen in Australia, where prevalence of deliveries at or beyond 42 weeks was 4.6% in 1990, and 2.8% in 1996.<sup>71</sup> In an Australian study a general shift towards births at earlier gestational ages was reported.<sup>71</sup> This contrasts the situation in Norway, where the proportions of deliveries at different gestational ages have been relatively stable over the last decades. However, the proportion of deliveries beyond 42 weeks has decreased even in Norway, especially after 1992. (Table 1)

Table 1. Proportions of deliveries (%) beyond term in Norway 1968-2002 according to statistics from the Medical Birth Registry of Norway.

	1968	1972	1976	1980	1984	1988	1992	1996	2000	2002
40	27,2	26,9	27,3	27,3	26,9	26,3	25,6	26,3	24	23
41	20	20,8	21,3	21,4	21	20,3	20,1	20,7	18	18
42	9,2	10,4	10,6	10,4	10	9,5	9,6	10,1	9	8,7
+43	5,1	5,9	5,2	4,4	4,6	4,6	4,9	2,7	2,8	2,7

# 4.5 Complications of post-term pregnancy

The incidence and severity of complications vary from study to study, usually reported as the number of complications per 1000 deliveries.<sup>28, 29, 72</sup> However, as pointed out by Yudkin et al., fetuses at risk of stillbirth at a specific gestational age must include all live fetuses at risk at that particular gestational age.<sup>73</sup> He argues that the number of stillbirths per ongoing pregnancies is the appropriate risk estimate to be used. Thus, stillbirths and early neonatal deaths should be reported separately and appropriate denominators must be used.<sup>74</sup> The most frequently cited study on post-term pregnancies was found to increase from 0.35 at gestational week 37 to 2.12 at week 43, whereas the stillbirth rate per 1000 births decreased from 6.2 to 1.5 from gestational week 37 -43.<sup>75</sup>

Several studies using modifications of Yudkin's model have been performed.<sup>76-79</sup> An example of how Yudkin's model can alter conclusions within a dataset was seen in a Swedish study. The authors reported an increased risk of stillbirths in post-term pregnancies for primiparous, but not for multiparous women when the denominator was per 1000 deliveries.<sup>28</sup> By using the model of Yudkin on the same dataset (per ongoing pregnancies), increased risks were found in both groups.<sup>80, 81</sup>

Yudkin's model is useful to assess the short term risk of stillbirth.<sup>82</sup> The short term risk of stillbirth is interesting for obstetricians in their daily clinical risk assessment and counselling of post-term women. The original Yudkin model risk estimated a two-week period and a revised model used a one-week period. A more useful clinical approach would be to give risk estimates for a few days only. The information a pregnant woman would like to know is the risk for stillbirth at her particular gestational age and the increased risk if the pregnancy is allowed to continue for a few more days.

#### 4.5.1 Perinatal and neonatal mortality

Stillbirth and neonatal death are of course worst case scenarios, and post-term pregnancy increases the risk of both events.<sup>22, 28, 75, 83</sup> Several studies have reported increased stillbirth rate from 41 weeks gestation,<sup>42, 75, 84</sup> and some have reported increased risk from 40 weeks gestation.<sup>77</sup> In a study from the National Swedish Medical Birth Registry, the odds ratio for fetal death was 1.5, 1.8 and 2.9 at 41, 42 an 43 weeks respectively compared to 40 weeks.<sup>42</sup>

Some studies report a summarized risk of stillbirth and neonatal death, which was slightly increased in post-term pregnancies compared to term pregnancies (OR 1.36; 95% CI 1.08-1.72).<sup>85</sup> Other studies have divergent conclusions, and some found that neonatal mortality was independent of gestational age.<sup>29, 42</sup>

It has been suggested that the increased mortality rate in post-term pregnancies is due to fetal growth restriction. One study found that fetal growth restriction was associated with significantly higher odds ratios for both fetal and neonatal mortality rates for every gestational age between 40 and 43 weeks, with odds ratios ranging from 7.1 to 10.0 for fetal death and 3.4 to 9.4 for neonatal death.<sup>42</sup> In a large Swedish study of more than 500.000 deliveries, the increased risk of stillbirth in post-term pregnancies was found to be associated with an increased rate of small for gestational age infants (SGA)(OR 10.56; 95% CI 6.95-16.05).<sup>72</sup> When SGA-births with congenital malformations were excluded, the risk of infant death decreased considerably.<sup>72</sup> In this study there was no significant increase in stillbirths or infant deaths among appropriate for gestational age infants born post-term compared to those born at term. In a study of variables associated with perinatal mortality in post-term infants in a ten year cohort of Norwegian births, SGA births had a risk of perinatal death almost six times greater than non-SGA births (adjusted RR 5.68; 95% CI 4.37-7.38).<sup>6</sup> The second most influential risk factor was maternal age 35 years or older (adjusted RR 1.88; 95% CT 1.22-2.89).<sup>6</sup>

#### 4.5.2 Neonatal morbidity

Since the risk of fetal and infant mortality is low, a possible association between morbidity and post-term pregnancy is more of concern in daily clinical work. A number of neonatal complications have been associated with post-term pregnancy, e.g. meconium aspiration, NICU admission, fetal distress and convulsions.

Several studies have reported an increased risk of meconium aspiration, which in turn is associated with neonatal morbidity.<sup>72, 85-87</sup> NICU admission rate is increased for post-term neonates.<sup>29, 88</sup> Fetal distress has also been associated with post-term pregnancy.<sup>85, 89, 90</sup> The diagnosis of fetal distress is usually based on low Apgar scores or fetal acidemia. The risk of low Apgar score at five minutes has been found to be increased in post-term compared to term deliveries in some,<sup>72, 87, 91</sup> but not all studies.<sup>29</sup> Umbilical artery pH <7.0 was associated with post-term pregnancy in one study,<sup>92</sup> while others were unable to confirm this.<sup>29</sup> In a study of

Caughey et al. the adjusted OR for pH < 7.0 was 1.65 at 41 weeks and 2.31 at 42 weeks when gestational week 39 was used as reference.<sup>92</sup> Further, they found that umbilical cord pH decreased with increasing gestational age. This is in accordance with the results in a study by Kitlinski et al.<sup>92, 93</sup> Kitlinski et al. proposed that gestational age adjusted cut-off levels of pH should be used to avoid a diagnosis of acidosis when umbilical artery pH are within the normal limits of a particular gestational age.

A study by Caughey et al. did not have sufficient power to demonstrate statistically significant differences when each complication was studied separately according to gestational age. However, the summarized complication risk increased from 40 weeks gestation.<sup>92</sup> Other complications found to be associated with post-term deliveries are convulsions, birth trauma (skull fracture, plexus brachialis injuries), intracranial haemorrhage, neonatal sepsis and respiratory distress syndrome.<sup>85</sup> Olesen et al. found increased OR for these complications in post-term births (1.22-1.90) compared with term births.<sup>85</sup>

Most neonatal morbidity measurement instruments are developed for preterm neonates. In most studies on post-term deliveries, neonatal morbidity was not properly defined. In general, the measurements used were expressions of morbidity, such as low Apgar score and NICU transfer. The largest reported randomised trial on post-term pregnancy is the Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial (CMPP).<sup>30</sup> The trial used a novel neonatal morbidity index. The morbidity index was defined after the first 1500 infants had been born, and a consensus conference was held to define measures of neonatal morbidity. Outcome measures for neonatal morbidity used in a recent Cochrane review were: Birth asphyxia (as defined by trialists), admission to NICU, neonatal convulsions, neonatal encephalopathy, use of anticonvulsants, meconium aspiration syndrome, pneumonia, Apgar score less than seven at five minutes and neurodevelopment at childhood follow-up.

# 4.5.3 Long term outcome for children

There are very few studies on follow-up of children born post-term. In a study from Toronto, 184 normal term controls and 129 infants born beyond 294 days were followed for 1-2 years to examine the influence of prolonged pregnancy on infant development.<sup>94</sup> The conclusions were that infant development were similar for term and post-term infants.<sup>95</sup>

In a study by Field et al. post-term infants had a greater head circumference at one year of age compared with controls.<sup>96</sup> This was also observed in a Swedish study, in which

the head circumference was more than 2 SD above the mean for children born at term (14.2% versus 8.8%, p=0.031).<sup>97</sup> However, a large head circumference did not correlate to poor developmental outcome.<sup>97</sup> A multiple logistic regression analysis indicated, however, that the children born post-term had higher risk for developmental deviations than children born at term (13.1% versus 5.5%, OR 2.20; 95% CI 1.29–3.85). The analysis also demonstrated that males generally had more neurodevelopmental disorders than females (OR 1.92; 95% CI 1.11–3.45).<sup>97</sup> Instrumental delivery, SGA and traumatic birth injury did not influence on the odds ratio for developmental deviation.<sup>97</sup>

### 4.5.4 Maternal outcome

Several studies have reported increased risk of caesarean section and operative vaginal deliveries in post-term deliveries.<sup>88, 98</sup> Operative deliveries and maternal complications are therefore matters of concern in studies of post-term pregnancy management.<sup>22, 30, 89</sup> In a case-control study of Luckas et al., there was an increased risk of caesarean section due to fetal distress (RR 2.0; 95% CI 11.14-3.61) and failure to progress in labour (RR 1.74; 95% CI 1.02-3.04) in post-term deliveries.<sup>88</sup> Long duration of labour and prolonged second stage have also been associated to post-term labours,<sup>29</sup> as well as post-partum haemorrhage.<sup>85, 98</sup> Olesen et al. found an overall maternal complication frequency of 30%, including operative deliveries, post- partum haemorrhage, cervical lacerations, dystocia and puerperal infection.<sup>85</sup> In general, maternal complications are associated with large fetal size, and fetal complications are associated with small fetal size.<sup>6</sup>

# 4.6 Management protocols

No management protocol for post-term pregnancy is considered to be the gold standard, and management protocols may vary from country to country and from hospital to hospital. There are different suggestions to the questions when follow-up examinations should start, what kind of examinations the follow-up should include, and how frequently the follow-up examinations should be done. Proposed guidelines will be discussed in detail later.

Up to date, there are no examinations with convincing positive or negative predictive values for bad outcome. In an English study, it was concluded that when extensive post-term pregnancy follow-up was done, more interventions were performed without any improvement of pregnancy outcome.<sup>99</sup>

Studies on efficacy of post-term antenatal surveillance from 41 weeks onwards compared with 42 weeks onwards need to consider pregnancy outcomes, logistic issues and cost-benefit analyses. In a study of Bochner et al. the total number of adverse outcomes in a group of women who started antenatal surveillance at 42 weeks was found to be significantly increased compared with a group starting surveillance at 41 weeks.<sup>100</sup> The authors proposed, however, that a randomised controlled trial was needed to determine the optimal time to start post-term surveillance, and to address the additional manpower, expenses and necessary facilities needed.<sup>100</sup>

#### 4.6.1 CTG

Cardiotocography (CTG) records fetal heart rate, fetal movements and uterine contractions to assess signs of fetal hypoxia. No other examination in obstetrics is more frequently used, but evidence based medical benefits are still lacking.<sup>101, 102</sup> A Cochrane review concluded that there is not enough evidence to evaluate the use of antenatal CTG for fetal assessment.<sup>102</sup> The trials included in the review are old, and the results may be difficult to relate to current practice.<sup>102</sup> Still, CTG is performed as a part of post-term follow-up worldwide.<sup>103, 104</sup> In a survey to all birth units in Norway in 2003, CTG was reported to be a part of the post-term follow-up in all units.<sup>4</sup>

There are no typical FHR patterns in post-term pregnancies. In a case-control study, 2.2% was found to have FHR  $\geq 160$  and 5.5% had FHR  $\leq 120$  in the post-term group, but there were no differences in outcome between the term and post-term groups.<sup>105</sup> Computerized analysis of the fetal heart rate has found the variation to decrease with increasing gestational age, and reduced variability is a predictor of intrapartum fetal distress and acidosis in post-term deliveries.<sup>7, 106</sup> Others have found an association between FHR abnormalities and amniotic fluid index (AFI).<sup>107, 108</sup> Divon et al. found an AFI  $\leq 5$  cm to be a risk factor of FHR decelerations and meconium stained liquor.<sup>108</sup> Further, the frequency of oligohydramnios and abnormal non-stress tests were inversely related to birth weight in the expectantly managed prolonged pregnancy.<sup>109</sup> Maternal ketonuria in post-term pregnancy has been found to be associated with an increased incidence of non-reactive CTG, and a significant increase in FHR decelerations.<sup>110</sup>

During labour, variable decelerations have been observed in up to two-thirds of postterm deliveries, but it has been difficult to differentiate between fetuses in distress and those who experience a normal labour on the basis of variable decelerations alone.<sup>111</sup>

# 4.6.2 Amniotic fluid

Post-term pregnancy is associated with oligohydramnios. The pathophysiologic mechanism responsible for the development of oligohydramnios has not been established. Estimation of the amount of amniotic fluid is recommended to be a part of post-term pregnancy management protocols.<sup>112</sup> In Norway estimation of the amount of amniotic fluid is part of the post-term follow up in 95% of the birth units.<sup>4</sup>

The amniotic fluid index (AFI) and measurement of the depth of the deepest pocket are both semi-quantitative measures of the amount of amniotic fluid. The AFI is a summary of the largest vertical pocket in each quadrant of the uterus. The pocket should not include an aggregate of cord or fetal extremities. There are divergent views on how the measurements should be performed and what criteria should be used.<sup>113</sup>

AFI and the deepest pocket are usually reported in cm.  $AFI \le 5$  cm or deepest pocket  $\le 2$  cm is commonly considered indicative for oligohydramnios. Another option to estimate the amount of amniotic fluid is to make a subjective estimate, which is found to be correct in up to 70% of the cases.<sup>114</sup>

Oligohydramnios is associated with fetal heart rate abnormalities and meconium stained liquor.<sup>107, 108</sup> In a study by Alfirevic, five hundred women with singleton, uncomplicated pregnancies with gestational age  $\geq$  290 days were randomly allocated to fetal monitoring by either AFI and CTG or maximum pool depth and CTG. The proportion of abnormal AFI measurements was significantly higher than the proportion of abnormal maximum pool depths (10% vs 2.4%; OR 4.51; 95% CI 1.82-11.21). This resulted in more inductions for abnormal post-term monitoring in the AFI group, but there were no other statistically significant differences in perinatal or labour outcomes.<sup>115</sup> This is in accordance with another RCT, where the conclusion was that the AFI offered no advantage in detecting adverse outcomes compared with the single deepest pocket.<sup>116</sup> However, some propose that AFI is markedly superior as a predictor of fetal asphyxia before labour.<sup>117</sup> In a UK study, AFI < 5 cm was significantly associated with caesarean section for fetal distress in labour, meconium aspiration, a cord arterial pH <7 at delivery and low Apgar scores.<sup>118</sup> However, both AFI and single deepest pocket are poor diagnostic tests in identifying patients who will undergo caesarean delivery for non-reassuring FHR tracing or deliver a newborn with depression or acidosis.119

Maternal hydration for increasing amniotic fluid volume have been suggested to be beneficial in the management of oligohydramnios.<sup>120</sup> This is probably not a good strategy in post-term pregnancies, as induction of labour would be a more appropriate management plan.

In a study of deliveries beyond 41 weeks gestation, AFI > 6 was found to be associated to longer duration of labour and a spontaneous labour was less likely to occur.<sup>121</sup>

# 4.6.3 Fetal growth

In the past, fetal growth was believed to stop at around 40 weeks with an equalization of the growth curves beyond term.<sup>122</sup> Later studies have demonstrated that fetal growth continues in a steady and linear way until 42 weeks.<sup>123</sup>

Data from the Norwegian Medical Birth Registry indicate that there has been a linear increase in birth weight per year for children born at 40 weeks gestation. The birth weight increase is estimated to be 4 g per year for all births, which corresponds to around 100 g over a 30 year period.<sup>123</sup> In Denmark, the overall mean birth weight increased 45 g, and for infants born at term the increase was 61 g over a ten year period.<sup>124</sup> The risk of having a baby weighing more than 4000 g increased from 17% to 20% in the same period.<sup>124</sup> The proportion of children weighing more than 4500 g at birth was 3.2% in Norway in 1980 and 4.8% in 1999.<sup>125</sup>

Macrosomia is associated with post-term pregnancies. Maternal anxiety and concern are often related to "the big baby" post-term.<sup>69</sup> Still, induction of labour for suspected fetal macrosomia in non-diabetic women does not reduce the risk of maternal or neonatal morbidity.<sup>126, 127</sup> However, one study found increased risk of stillbirth post-term if maternal age was > 40 years and fetal birth weight was moderately increased (2.5-9.9 percentile).<sup>128</sup>

Small fetuses have a high risk for poor obstetric outcome in post-term pregnancies.<sup>6</sup> The incidence of SGA is increased in post-term births compared with term births (3.8% versus 2.2%).<sup>72</sup> Fetal growth restriction has been associated with significantly higher OR for both fetal and neonatal mortality rates at 41-43 weeks. In a study by Divon et al. odds ratios ranged from 7.1 to 10.0 for fetal death and 3.4 to 9.4 for neonatal death.<sup>42</sup> Thus, it is of outmost importance to diagnose fetuses at risk. Ultrasound can diagnose both macrosomia and growth restriction.<sup>129</sup> In one study, ROC-curves (receiver operating characteristic curves) predicted birth weights <10<sup>th</sup> percentile (3125 g) and <5th percentile (2930 g) in 89% and 96% of cases.<sup>130</sup>

In a Swedish study, a population based standard (adjusted for gestational age and gender) was compared to a customised birth-weight standard (based on the prediction of optimal growth in each individual pregnancy).<sup>131</sup> The customized method was somewhat better to identify fetal growth restriction having an increased risk of adverse perinatal outcome.<sup>131</sup>

Eighty percent of Norwegian birth units estimate fetal weight by ultrasonography as part of their post-term follow-up.<sup>4</sup>

#### 4.6.4 Doppler ultrasound

Doppler ultrasound has no proven benefit in monitoring the post-term fetus and is not recommended as part of post-term management protocols.<sup>132</sup> One Doppler study has indicated that left and right fetal cardiac function was impaired in prolonged pregnancies, and this occurred before the appearance of an abnormal intrapartum FHR.<sup>133</sup> However, in a Swedish study of very prolonged pregnancies (> 43 weeks), there was no association of fetal distress in labour and increased placental vascular resistance.<sup>134</sup> Post-term pregnancies with oligohydramnios did not seem to differ in placental and fetal blood flow distributions from those with a normal amount of amniotic fluid.<sup>135</sup>

#### 4.6.5 Cervix

Information about cervical ripeness is important when induction of labour is considered, and evaluation of the cervix is therefore part of most management protocols. The traditional clinical method for evaluating the cervix is digital palpation and the use of "Bishop score". Recently transvaginal ultrasound has become increasingly popular to measure the cervical length.

#### 4.6.5.1 Bishop score

It is more than 40 years since Edward H. Bishop argued that a standardized evaluation of the cervix was required to determine suitability for elective induction.<sup>136</sup> Five factors are included in the Bishop score: Cervical dilatation, effacement, consistency, position and the station of the presenting part. Each factor is scored on a scale from 0-2, and a Bishop score will range from 0-10. Bishop score > 6 is regarded as a favourable cervix, and  $\leq 5$  is regarded as unfavourable.

The Bishop score is used worldwide and numerous studies on cervical assessment have been performed. Cervix is rarely found to be favourable in post-term pregnancies. In one study only 8% was found to have a Bishop score > 6 at  $\ge$  42 weeks.<sup>137</sup> In a Swedish study of 103 women who were followed from gestational day 294 onwards, 73% of primiparous and 53% of multiparous women had Bishop scores 0-5 at study entry.<sup>87</sup> In this study, primiparous women experienced a more gradual ripening of cervix with increasing gestational length, whereas multiparous women often had a sudden change from unripe to ripe cervix.

The length of the induction to delivery interval is associated with Bishop score, and the likelihood of vaginal delivery within 24 hours has been found to increase with the Bishop score.<sup>138</sup> Further analyses of the different components of the Bishop score demonstrated that only cervical length provided a significant contribution to the prediction of the likelihood of vaginal delivery within 24 hours.<sup>138</sup> In another study, cervical dilatation was found to be more predictive of caesarean delivery than cervical effacement or presenting part station.<sup>139</sup> This contrasts the study of Shin et al., where the fetal station was found to be more predictive for vaginal delivery than dilatation.<sup>140</sup> Others have found dilatation, effacement and station to be better predictive factors to spontaneous onset of labour than consistency and position.<sup>137</sup>

As the Bishop score is a subjective method, the numerical score may vary depending on the examiner. One study demonstrated that if a difference of one point between the observers was found acceptable, the inter-observer agreement was 66%. A formal Bishop score did not improve agreement as compared to an informal global evaluation.<sup>141</sup> By replacing digital assessment of the cervical length by ultrasound measurements, the modified Bishop score was better than the original one in predicting the induction to delivery interval and the success of induction of labour.<sup>142</sup>

Several studies have assessed Bishop score and measurements by transvaginal ultrasound. Some studies find that the methods are comparable,<sup>143-145</sup> some find Bishop score to be best,<sup>146</sup> and others find transvaginal ultrasound to be the best method.<sup>147</sup> Different cut-off values have been used in different studies. In a study of Rozenberg et al., the prediction of labour within 7 days and normal vaginal delivery were similar with a Bishop score 6 or more and an ultrasound measured cervical length of 26 mm or less.<sup>143</sup> In a study by Chandra et al., transvaginal ultrasound did not predict successful labour induction in post-term pregnancy as well as the digital examination did.<sup>146</sup> However, patient discomfort assessed by visual analogue scales demonstrated significantly less discomfort with sonographic assessment of the cervix compared with digital examination.<sup>146</sup>

### 4.6.5.2 Transvaginal ultrasound

In a Swedish study of 419 nulliparous and 360 parous women cervical length decreased with increasing gestational age beyond 32 weeks in both nulliparous and parous women, but the median cervical length tended to be longer in parous women from 33 to 41 weeks.<sup>148</sup> In a study of Chinese women the mean length of the cervix was shorter throughout pregnancy compared with studies of Caucasians.<sup>149</sup> This may be due to racial differences.

In a UK study, cervical length was measured by transvaginal ultrasound at 37 weeks in 1571 singleton low-risk pregnancies.<sup>150</sup> The median cervical length was 30 mm, and there was a significant association between cervical length and gestational age at delivery.<sup>150</sup> The incidence of delivery after 41+3 weeks increased with increasing cervical length at 37 weeks (0%, 6%, 35% and 68% for cervical lengths of < 20, 21-30, 31-40 and 41-50 mm).<sup>150</sup>

Transvaginal ultrasound measurements of the cervix may be more objective and accurate than Bishop score, because half the cervix is not palpable at digital vaginal examination when the cervical canal is closed. In one study sonographically measured cervical length was found to predict the outcome of induction better than the Bishop score or cervical length by vaginal examination.<sup>147</sup> ROC curves (receiver–operating characteristics) demonstrated that ultrasound was better than Bishop score in the prediction of all caesarean sections (72% versus 68%) and caesarean sections for failure to progress (76% versus 69%).<sup>151</sup> This is in accordance with a study by Gabriel et al., which concluded that for women with unfavourable Bishop score, a cervical length of < 26 mm was associated with a lower risk of caesarean section and a shorter duration of labour.<sup>152</sup>

It is important to be able to predict failure of induction of labour. One study indicated that transvaginal ultrasound of the cervix was better than the Bishop score to predict a successful labour induction.<sup>153</sup> If the cervix measured 32 mm or more, 85% of women remained undelivered after 24 hours compared to 65% undelivered if the Bishop score was two or less.<sup>153</sup> However, study results are contradictory. Another study concluded that ultrasound did not improve the prediction of cervical inducibility obtained by the Bishop score.<sup>154</sup> In nulliparous post-term women the use of a logistic regression model including both Bishop score and sonographic cervical length was more likely to predict the onset of labour within 24 hours than the use of Bishop score alone or ultrasound alone.<sup>155</sup> In a Norwegian study, the mean distance from the outer bony part of the fetal skull to the skin of the perineum (fetal head–perineal distance) was measured by transvaginal ultrasound in women with prelabour rupture of membranes at term. Women with a short fetal head–perineal distance (<

45 mm) had statistically significant shorter time from rupture of membranes to start of labour, and a shorter time from induction to delivery.<sup>156</sup>

Recent studies have suggested that 3D ultrasound examinations of the cervix allow a more complete assessment of the cervix than the 2-dimensional (2D) ultrasound approach. However, the results of 3D power Doppler ultrasound examinations before induction did not predict outcomes of labour induction in post-term women.<sup>157</sup> In prolonged pregnancy, cervical vascularisation (estimated by 3-dimensional power Doppler ultrasound) was related to time to delivery >48 hours. However, the likelihood of delivery >48 hours can be predicted equally well using Bishop score alone or sonographic cervical length alone.<sup>158</sup>

## 4.6.5.3 Fibronectin

Measurements of fetal fibronectin in vagina or cervix have been introduced as screening methods to predict preterm labour. A high fetal fibronectin level is associated with delivery within the near future.<sup>159, 160</sup> However, the use of fibronectin test has never been a well-established part of post-term follow-up.<sup>161</sup>

In a retrospective study, fibronectin was measured in gestational week 39-40, and the presence of vaginal fibronectin concentration <60 ng/ml ident ified 96% of women who delivered beyond 41 weeks.<sup>162</sup> For those who delivered before 41 weeks, a 35 fold increase in fibronection concentration was found.<sup>162</sup> This contrasts the results of a Swedish study in which the concentration of fetal fibronectin in vaginal fluid was elevated in only 36 of the 80 post-term women, and a positive fibronectin concentration had no correlation with delivery in two or three days.<sup>163</sup> Mouw et al. have also concluded that fibronectin test can not predict whether birth will take place within three days or not.<sup>164</sup>

# 4.6.5.4 Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1)

The detection of amniotic fluid isoforms of IGFBP-1 in cervical and vaginal samples is diagnostic for the rupture of fetal membranes.<sup>165</sup> Phosphorylated isoforms of IGFBP-1, different from those found in amniotic fluid, are present in the cervical secretion of women with intact fetal membranes and reflect cervical ripeness.<sup>165</sup> Nuutila et al. have suggested that a bedside test for phosphorylated IGFBP-1 isoforms might help to predict suitability for labour induction.<sup>165</sup> Studies on IGFBP-1 and cervical ripeness in post-term pregnancies are lacking.

# 4.7 Induction of labour

Induction of labour has been associated with labour complications and in particular with increased risk of caesarean section.<sup>166, 167</sup> Labour induction was associated with an increased caesarean delivery rate from 13.7% to 24.7% (OR 1.70; 95% CI 1.48-1.95) in primiparous women, and from 2.4% to 4.5% (OR 1.49; 95% CI 1.10-2.00) in parous women.<sup>168</sup>

Post-term pregnancy is a common clinical indication for labour induction. In the United States induction of labour is one of the most frequently performed medical procedures, and the proportions of induced labours increased from 9% in 1989 to 19% in 1998.<sup>169</sup> The gestational age distribution curve for induced births has showed a marked shift to the left, and the proportion of all induced births occurring post-term fell from19% to 9% during the same time period, whereas term induction increased from 73% to 83%.<sup>169</sup> This change has not been observed in Norway. The proportion of induced labours are still relatively low (12% in 2002, according to data from the Norwegian Medical Birth Registry). The proportions of induced labours post-term are in accordance with the results from the survey to Norwegian birth units (Table 2).

Table 2. Induced labours beyond 41 weeks gestation in 2003 according to statistics from the Norwegian Medical Birth Registry.

			Proportion of
Gestational	Number of	Number of	induced labours,
age, days	births	induced labours	%
287	1 843	157	9
288	1 712	162	10
289	1 612	165	10
290	1 448	168	12
291	1 322	175	13
292	1 191	178	15
293	993	176	18
294	931	166	18
295	805	220	27
296	811	357	44
297	730	404	55
298	426	249	59
299	257	168	65
300	119	73	61

# 4.7.1 Methods

There are numerous different methods for induction of labour, which is reflected in 24 different Cochrane reviews on the topic. In a survey to all birth units in Norway in 2003, about 50% of the units used dinoprostone gel for induction of labour and 25% used misoprostol.<sup>4</sup> There were a total of 24 different administration and dosage regimens in use.<sup>4</sup> Only a few methods will be discussed here, primarily the methods recommended in the Norwegian Guidelines for Obstetrics.<sup>170</sup>

A number of "old wives" tales are still used by many women to encourage start of labour. Among the more common approaches are frequent walking, vaginal intercourse, participating in heavy exercise, consumption of laxatives, spicy foods or herbal tea, nipple stimulation and administration of an enema.<sup>171</sup> There has been some research on these

methods, and even a few Cochrane reviews exist, but the research is inconclusive, and there is usually no evidence of effect.<sup>172-175</sup>

Studies usually compare efficacy of labour induction methods stratified into whether cervix is favourable or unfavourable, although cervical ripening is a continuum. When cervix is unfavourable, prostaglandins are usually the preferred method for cervical ripening. Prostaglandins have been used for induction of labour since the 1960s, and many studies have been reported since then. From the early 1990s, the synthetic prostaglandin analogue misoprostol has been used and appears to be at least as effective as more conventional prostaglandins.<sup>176, 177</sup>

The results on effect and side-effects of prostaglandins are conflicting. Both prostaglandin  $E_2$  and  $F_{2a}$  are found to increase successful vaginal delivery rates within 24 hours without increasing operative delivery rates.<sup>178</sup> However, uterine hyperstimulation with or without FHR changes have been associated to the use of prostaglandins and related to the dosage.<sup>177, 178</sup> The definition of uterine hyperstimulation varies. In one study hyperstimulation was defined as tachysystole (> 5 contractions per 10 minutes for at least 20 minutes) or hypersystole (contractions lasting at least 2 minutes),<sup>177</sup> while others defined hyperstimulation as tachysystole with fetal heart rate changes.<sup>179</sup> A systematic review of studies on misoprostol compared with prostaglandin  $E_2$  for labour induction at term, (with intact membranes and unfavourable cervix) demonstrated no difference in the risk of caesarean delivery. However, the use of misoprostol was associated with a higher risk of tachysystole (RR 1.86; 95% CI 1.01-3.43) and hyperstimulation (RR 3.71; 95% CI 2.00-6.88).<sup>179</sup> The optimal method of induction of labour, including route of administration and dosage, is still under debate.

When cervix is favourable, the recommended methods are sweeping of the membranes, amniotomy and/or oxytocin. Amniotomy and membrane sweep are frequently requested by women wanting a drug-free labour. The available evidence suggest that membrane sweep promote the onset of labour.<sup>180</sup> In one study, membrane sweeps increased the spontaneous vaginal delivery rate, shortened induction to delivery interval, and improved patient satisfaction.<sup>181</sup> In a RCT of low-risk pregnancies at 41 weeks, serial sweeping of the membranes decreased the risk of post-term pregnancy (RR 0.57; 95% CI 0.46-0.71, NNT 6).<sup>182</sup>

Oxytocin is the most frequently used induction agent worldwide. It may be used alone, in combination with amniotomy or following cervical ripening with other pharmacological or non-pharmacological methods.<sup>183</sup> A Cochrane-review included 40 trials and 5893 women, and found that using PGE<sub>2</sub> rather than oxytocin was probably more effective to induce labour.<sup>183</sup> It

is noteworthy that there was no increase in uterine hyperstimulation with fetal heart rate changes in any of the comparisons. This contrasts the common belief that the use of oxytocin is associated with fetal distress and adverse outcome.<sup>183, 184</sup> The combination of amniotomy and intravenous oxytocin have been widely used in obstetric practice, but surprisingly little research have been done. Meta-analyses do not clearly support or refute the value of using a combination rather than separate methods individually, and no recommendations for clinical practice have been made.<sup>185</sup> A review of trials in the Cochrane database did not find evidence to support the use of amniotomy alone for induction of labour.<sup>186</sup>

### 4.7.2 Economical considerations

Cost is a major issue when recommendations about induction of labour are considered. Obviously the costs of induction include far more than the price of the medications used. Induced labours are "high risk labours", and additional monitoring is required. According to a Canadian study, the costs of delivery after induction of labour was increased compared to spontaneous onset of labours (\$1715 versus \$1474, P<0.001).<sup>187</sup> In a theoretical study, induction of labour at gestational age 40, 41 and 42 required expenditures from the medical system regardless of parity and cervical ripeness, and induction of labour was never cost saving.<sup>188</sup> However, for parous women and for women with a favourable cervix, inductions were less expensive at later gestational ages.<sup>188</sup>

Post-term pregnancies managed expectantly will also need extra operating expenses and resources in terms of follow-up examinations with CTG and ultrasound. Costminimization analyses were conducted as part of the Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial, and the mean costs per woman were found to be \$ 3132 for a pregnancy managed expectantly and \$ 2939 per patient who underwent induction of labour (p<0.0001).<sup>189</sup>

# 5 **Basis for the study**

Obstetricians are always alert when a post-term woman is in labour at the delivery unit. The fact that there are different guidelines regarding post-term pregnancy management around the world, and a general feeling that there is no gold standard for medical treatment, we found it important to undertake new studies.

In Scandinavia there has been a conservative approach to post-term pregnancy management.<sup>87, 98, 103, 104, 190</sup> Most obstetricians in Norway follow the National Guidelines and await follow-up until 42 weeks. Swedish obstetricians have a similar approach. In a survey, 87% of Swedish delivery units said that they would await spontaneous delivery in normal pregnancies until 42 weeks of gestation, and only 9% would induce labour at 41 weeks.<sup>42</sup> Antenatal surveillance was initiated at 41 weeks by 5% and at 42 weeks by 95% of the units.<sup>42</sup> The standard management of prolonged pregnancy in Finland has been antenatal surveillance from 41 to 42 weeks of gestation, and induction of labour at 42 weeks if the cervix is favourable.<sup>98</sup>

A meta-analysis on post-term pregnancy management has, however, recommended induction of labour after 41 weeks to reduce the risk of perinatal death. In the meta-analysis, routine induction of labour was not associated with an increased risk of caesarean section, regardless of parity, state of the cervix or method of induction, and there was no increase in instrumental delivery rate, use of analgesia or incidence of fetal heart rate abnormality.<sup>22</sup> As a consequence, many countries changed their guidelines.<sup>112, 191</sup>

However, this meta-analysis has created some discussion in the scientific community.<sup>103, 192</sup> The major objections put forward have been that some fairly old studies were included, and that the Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial strongly influenced the meta-analysis due to the sample size of the trial. This trial is not without criticism from obstetricians worldwide.<sup>87, 103, 192, 193</sup>

The Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial included 3407 women from 22 hospitals. The aim of the trial was to determine the effect of routine induction of labour at 41 weeks on perinatal mortality and neonatal morbidity as compared with a policy of expectant management with serial antenatal monitoring.<sup>30</sup> A secondary objective of the trial was to determine if induction of labour resulted in increased or decreased rates of caesarean delivery.<sup>30</sup> The study reported no differences in perinatal mortality or neonatal morbidity between the randomised groups, and induction of labour resulted in a decreased rate of caesarean delivery compared with serial antenatal monitoring (21.2% versus 24.5%, p=0.03).<sup>30</sup> One important criticism towards the study was that different methods for estimating gestational age were used in the trial and that different methods for induction of labour were used in the randomised groups.<sup>87, 192</sup> In the induction group cervix was ripened with prostaglandin gel, whereas labour was induced by oxytocin or amniotomy in the monitored group. The operative delivery rate was more than 50% in both trial arms, and it has been argued that the results might not be valid in West-European countries.<sup>87</sup>

The guidelines from the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (RCOG) conclude that ultrasound should be offered before 20 weeks gestation to confirm gestational age, and that women with uncomplicated pregnancies should be offered induction of labour after 41 weeks.<sup>112</sup> The ACOG Practice Bulletin (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists) is less conclusive, and suggests that women with post-term pregnancies who have unfavourable cervices can either undergo labour induction or be managed expectantly.<sup>132</sup> A questionnaire was mailed to 1000 randomly selected ACOG Fellows and Junior Fellows to investigate attitudes and practice patterns toward post-term pregnancy. Post-term pregnancy is defined by ACOG as 42 weeks of gestation or more, but only 48% of the practicing obstetricians in the study defined post-term pregnancy as 42 weeks gestation or more.<sup>194</sup> In all, 73% reported that they routinely induced low-risk patients with singletons at 41 weeks gestation.<sup>194</sup>

The meta-analysis on post-term pregnancy concluded that there was no need for further randomised trials of routine induction of labour versus conservative management.<sup>22</sup> However, a Swedish "State of the Art- management of post-term pregnancy" conference came to the opposite conclusion, recommending that a Scandinavian randomised trial should be done.<sup>87</sup> A recently published study from Finland also concluded that there is an urgent need for a prospective randomised study on management of post-term pregnancies.<sup>98</sup>

# 6 Aims of the studies

# 6.1 Study 1

The aim of the study was to evaluate pregnancy complications and perinatal outcome for pregnancies at or beyond term when onset of labours were spontaneous or induced.

# 6.2 Study 2

The aim of the randomised controlled trial was to compare induction of labour at gestational age 289 days (41 weeks + 2 days) with expectant management with respect to neonatal morbidity. A secondary aim was to assess the effect of induction of labour and expectant management on the mode of delivery and maternal complications.
#### 6.3 Study 3

The aim of the survey was to explore women's preferences of post-term pregnancy management. We also wanted to study women's experiences after participation in a clinical trial of routine antenatal fetal monitoring or induction of labour.

#### 6.4 Study 4

The aim of this study was to assess risk estimates for fetal and perinatal deaths day by day beyond 41 completed weeks in a Norwegian population, and to estimate numbers needed to induce to avoid one fetal or perinatal death.

## 7 Subjects and methods

The study population in Study 1-3 came from a geographically well-defined area consisting of the city of Trondheim and eight surrounding municipalities. This area is served solely by St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital for all obstetric and perinatal care. In this non-selected population, 98 % of all pregnant women have a routine ultrasound scan at around 18 weeks and delivery at St. Olavs Hospital.

## 7.1 Study 1

Demographic characteristics, obstetrical history and data from all ultrasound scans were prospectively recorded in a computerized database. After delivery, additional data from the delivery and all neonatal outcomes were included in the database.

Women were included if they had a singleton pregnancy with reliable dates and delivery beyond 37 weeks of gestation. The methods for induction of labour were amniotomy/oxytocin if cervix was favourable, and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> when cervix was unfavourable. Post-term follow-up was initiated 14 days after the estimated date of delivery. If the pregnancy was uncomplicated, the woman attended follow-up examinations every second day until spontaneous delivery occurred or labour was induced at 43 completed weeks.

### 7.2 Study 2 and 3

Women were informed about the study when they attended the routine ultrasound scan at around 18 weeks. They were invited to book appointments at 41 weeks gestation. Eligible

women received a reminder phone call around 41 weeks if no follow-up appointment had been made.

All women had the same baseline assessment and answered the questionnaires on attitudes to post-term pregnancy at the time of inclusion. The methods used for induction of labour were amniotomy/oxytocin when cervix was favourable, and misoprostol when cervix was unfavourable (dinoprostone when the uterus was scarred).

Neonatal morbidity is a multifactorial outcome, and we chose to report commonly used and self-explanatory outcomes such as Apgar score, pH, Base excess, excessive birth weight, presence of infection or hypoglycaemia. In addition, we decided to report cut-off values for variables commonly considered to represent bad obstetric outcome (umbilical cord pH <7.10 or 7.00 or Base excess <12). A neonatal morbidity score (NEMO-score) was established for this study in order to compare groups quantitatively. NEMO score is a sum of deviations from the optimal neonatal outcome. We defined a perfect outcome as being an infant with a birth weight of 3.8 kg and a Ponderal Index of 2.88. Other optimal features for outcome were considered to be 1- and 5-minute Apgar scores of 10, umbilical cord pH 7.40 with base excess equal to 0 (zero), and no medical complications or need for treatment. To compare the study groups quantitatively we assigned a priori weights to the outcome variables, based on clinical judgment and consensus among the researchers. The sum in each neonate constitutes a Neonatal Morbidity score, which increases with increasing morbidity.

A telephone survey 6-8 months post partum was performed by the principal author (78% of interviews) and one secretary (22% of interviews). The questionnaire on attitudes and preferences of management was established in cooperation with midwives, colleagues and patients, and the questionnaire was tested in a pilot study.

## 7.3 Study 4

The data source for this study was the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. The present analysis was based on an anonymous extraction file from all singleton births from 1999-2005. Births with gestational age < 287 days and > 315 days were excluded from the analyses, as were births with unknown gestational age. Fetal malformations were excluded from the study.

#### 7.4 Statistics

#### 7.4.1 Statistical analyses

In study 1, Pearson Chi-Square was used to test for differences in the crude analysis of perinatal outcomes and pregnancy complications. To assess linear associations across gestational weeks, we used the Chi-Square test for trend for proportions and linear regression for continuous variables. We performed a multivariable logistic regression analysis to control for possible confounders such as gender, smoking, maternal age, parity, and birth weight. The relative risks of complications were estimated and expressed as odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI).

In study 2, groups were compared according to the intention to treat principle. Student's t-test was employed for continuous variables. Mann-Whitney test was used for ordinal variables and Fisher's exact tests with mid-p values for 2-by-2 tables.

In study 3, the Wilcoxon signed rank-test for paired observations was used to compare mean scores at inclusion and postpartum. Continuous variables are presented as means with standard deviations (SD), ordinal variables as medians with range, and categorical variables as numbers and percentages. Two-tailed tests were employed throughout the analyses, and a p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

In Study 4, differences in death rates and in numbers needed to treat were evaluated using proportion comparisons tests, and 95% CI for proportions were estimated using the exact option in the program package STATA.

#### 7.4.2 Sample size estimation

Sample size estimation is not relevant in population based epidemiological studies (study 1 and 4).

The randomised controlled trial had set a time frame of about two years, which made it realistic to enrol about 500 women. This sample size was considered acceptable in light of the results from two (unpublished) pilot studies, a retrospective study with n=20 and a prospective study with n=29. The pilot studies were undertaken prior to the trial to evaluate the feasibility of the NEMO score. Both pilot studies found a mean difference of about 1.5 (with SD  $\approx$  4) on the NEMO scale in favour of induction, and we found this difference to be clinically relevant. It corresponds to a standardized difference (mean difference /SD) of 0.38. To detect a standardized difference of 0.3 with a power of 80% at a two-sided significance level of 5% we would need 176 subjects in each group. The final sample size of 254 in each group enabled a detection of a standardized difference of 0.25 (i.e. approximately 1.0 on the NEMO scale), and an absolute difference of 10% regarding operative deliveries.<sup>195</sup>

## 8 Main results

#### 8.1 Study 1

In this epidemiological study we found that poor pregnancy outcomes varied with gestational age and onset of labour. Both post-term pregnancy and induced labour were prognostic factors for poor obstetric and neonatal outcome.

The caesarean delivery rate was stable around 12%, and the overall proportion of operative vaginal deliveries was constant around 8%. Maternal complications varied with gestational age, and were lowest at 39 weeks and highest post-term (caesarean delivery 12.3–21.6%, operative vaginal delivery 10.7–15.4%, maternal haemorrhage 9.7–14.6%). Poor neonatal outcome varied with gestational age only for spontaneous labours (Apgar < 7 at 5 minutes; 1.0–2.3%, pH < 7.10; 3.4–5.2%).

Induction of labour was a risk factor for delivery complications (OR 1.3-2.8), independent of gestational weeks, as were maternal age >35 years and nulliparity.

#### 8.2 Study 2

In this randomised controlled trial we found no differences in neonatal morbidity or delivery complications between the groups. Neonatal outcome was generally good, and there were no differences in the proportions of NICU admissions, Apgar scores or umbilical blood pH. When all outcome measures in the scoring systems developed for post-term morbidity (the NEMO score and the score used in the Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy trial) were assessed, we found no differences between groups. However, there was a trend towards more frequently observed meconium-stained amniotic fluid during labour in the monitoring group (p=0.08), and the neonates were 0.4 cm longer (p<0.01) and tended to have higher birth weights (p=0.09).

There was no difference in the caesarean delivery rate between the groups. Precipitate labours and short active second stage labours occurred more frequently in the induced group. In the monitoring group, an active second stage > 60 minutes was more frequently seen.

#### 8.3 Study 3

At 41 weeks the majority of women (73%) preferred immediate induction, despite the fact that 40% of them believed that the complication rate would increase if labour was induced. After delivery, four of five women in the induction group said they would be keen to follow the same management pathway in a future pregnancy. Only two of five women who had serial antenatal monitoring would prefer this option again. In the monitored group the proportion of women who thought induction at 41 weeks should be mandatory was larger when they were asked 6-8 months after delivery. This change in attitude was not observed in the induction group. The majority of women (84%) reported a positive labour induction experience.

#### 8.4 Study 4

The perinatal death rate increased with increasing gestational age (0.18% at day 288 to 5.1‰ at day 302+, p<0.001). NNTs (inductions necessary to avoid one IUFD or perinatal death) decreased with increasing gestational age (p<0.004). NNT for IUFD was 671 at day 287 and 195 at day 302+. NNT for perinatal death was 527 at day 287 and 195 at day 302+.

## **9** Discussion and interpretation of the results

Study 1 was an observational study of the medical consequences of gestational age and induction of labour in a Norwegian population. We observed that both post-term pregnancy and induction of labour were independent risk factors for poor outcome. We acknowledged that only a randomised controlled trial could bring further information on this topic.

The most recent Norwegian randomised controlled trial on post-term pregnancy was published 20 years ago.<sup>196</sup> The study was well designed and was included in a Cochrane review of 18 studies on post-term pregnancy management.<sup>83</sup> Augensen et al. found no differences between the groups in the trial, and the authors concluded that either type of management (induction at 42 or 43 weeks) appeared to be safe. However, this trial was performed before prostaglandins were introduced for labour induction. This may explain the

high proportion of failed inductions (23%) in the trial. Furthermore, this trial was performed before ultrasound was generally available. A large proportion of women (57%) were excluded from the trial, mostly because of unreliable dates. Compared to today, the caesarean delivery rate was rather low (7-8%). However, the operative vaginal delivery rate was around 10%, and this is comparable to our trial. The results from the two Norwegian studies done 20 years apart were quite similar, but induction of labour was done a few days earlier in the most recent trial. It is noteworthy, however, that the clinical conclusions and recommendations from the two trials differ. Augensen et al. proposed that induction of labour should be postponed due to the minimal risk of expectant management. We argue for the opposite conclusion due to several reasons, but primarily due to the increasing perinatal mortality rate post-term. This was demonstrated in Study 1 and 4, and has also been found in many other studies. <sup>22, 28, 75, 83</sup> Further, the majority of women prefer induction of labour rather than antenatal fetal surveillance.

For years obstetricians have been convinced that induction of labour cause maternal and neonatal complications. The results in Study 1 support this theory. In 1998 the Norwegian Medical Association carried out a "Break Through project on caesarean section" to try to reduce the increasing rate of caesarean deliveries. All labour units in Norway were invited to participate. Most participating units focused on a reduction in inductions as a possible way to reduce the caesarean delivery rate. Failed labour induction is a very negative experience for both mothers and obstetricians, and may be a contributing factor to their suggestion to postpone inductions. In Study 2 the rate of failed induction was rather low (6/293).

A Cochrane review was available when Study 2 was planned. The review concluded that no further randomised controlled trials of routine induction of labour versus conservative management were needed.<sup>22</sup> Thus, it may be argued that it was unnecessary, and perhaps even unethical, to go through with our trial. Lots of money and manpower are needed to conduct a randomised controlled trial, and patients have to spend time for examinations they otherwise would not have. On the other hand, Scandinavian management protocols of post-term pregnancy had not changed according to the conclusions from the Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy trial or Cochrane, and there was a request for a new trial from Scandinavia.<sup>87</sup> The Scandinavian countries may be different from other countries for several reasons. The population is homogeneous, the operative delivery rates are low and the health care system is free of charge. Almost all women attend pregnancy care.

In Study 2 the pregnancy surveillance was done according to Scandinavian recommendations, and the operative delivery rates were comparable to rates from other

Scandinavian countries. Thus, the results of the present trial may have an impact on Scandinavian practice. We anticipate that Scandinavian post-term pregnancy management protocols will become more in line with evidenced based medicine in the future.<sup>83, 112</sup>

In the most recent Cochrane review from 2006, it is concluded that it would be useful to conduct research to obtain women's views about management options.<sup>83</sup> This was addressed in Study 3. At a post-term follow-up, a pregnant woman should be informed about a small but increased risk of stillbirth and perinatal death if she continues the pregnancy beyond 41 weeks. She should also be told that there is no difference in neonatal morbidity or caesarean delivery rate if she chooses expectant management or induction of labour. Expectant management is a legitimate option provided appropriate monitoring of pregnancy. Furthermore, she should be informed that most women report a positive experience with induction of labour, and that women who have been expectantly managed prefer induction of labour in a future pregnancy. However, the delivery may be somewhat more precipitate, and contractions may be more intense if labour is induced. This may be due to the misoprostol dosage regimen used in the most recent trial, and a lower dose of misoprostol may influence the women's experience on this matter.

It is reasonable to believe that an even greater proportion of women would have a positive experience with induction of labour if the contractions were less intense. We have recently changed our dosage regimen for induction of labour at St. Olavs Hospital. The new low dose regimen is in line with the recommendations in the clinical guidelines from the Norwegian Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology,<sup>170</sup> and these guidelines are in accordance with international recommendations.<sup>197</sup> However, the use of low-dose regimens may be difficult and impracticable because the drug is currently only available in 100–200 µg tablets. The use of 25 µg requires multiple cutting of the tablet, involving a risk of inaccurate dosage. One previous study found that 42–74% of approximated one-quarter tablets (one-quarter of a 100-microgram tablet) failed to provide misoprostol dose within 10% of the desired dose.<sup>198</sup>

The methods for cervical ripening were different in Study 1 and Study 2. This may influence the comparison of the results, especially regarding outcomes of labour. In Study 1 dinoprostone was used. This has been reported to be less effective compared with misopostol.<sup>153</sup> In Study 2 the routine method for induction was misoprostol, and this was used in 239 women. In line with the study protocol, dinoprostone was used in 19 women with a scarred uterus. We believe that the larger proportion of prolonged first and second stages of labour found among induced labours in Study 1, but not in Study 2, may be related to the induction method.

There are reports of ruptured uterus after use of dinoprostone as well as misoprostol.<sup>179, 199</sup> In a recent review article there were no differences in adverse maternal outcomes for misoprostol or prostaglandin  $E_2$  use.<sup>179</sup> It has been stated that both elective caesarean section and induction of labour are reasonable choices for women with previous caesarean section.<sup>200</sup> Others argue that women who undergo trial of labour after the estimated date of delivery have a significantly increased risk for scar rupture.<sup>201</sup>

The precautions taken towards induction of women with scarred uterus are mostly of medico legal character. Misoprostol is not approved for the induction of labour, and any misoprostol use among pregnant women must be considered to be "off-label" use of the drug. This "off-label" use has raised an important discussion between the manufacturer, governments and obstetricians worldwide.<sup>202-204</sup> Misoprostol is cheap, thermostable (may be stored in room temperature), efficient and safe. However, the manufacturer does not want to apply for official use because they will not make much money, and they might face future litigations. Still, misoprostol is one of the most important medications in obstetrical practice. More than 200 studies involving more than 16 000 women have evaluated its effectiveness in pregnant women, and the results support its continued use.<sup>203</sup>

As far as we know, there is only one previously published randomised controlled trial on post-term pregnancy management using misoprostol.<sup>205</sup> The methods in the study by Gelisen et al. were somewhat different, and the results may be difficult to compare. The induction group in their study had three treatments arms: Vaginal administration of 50  $\mu$ g misoprostol (n = 100), oxytocin induction (n =100) or transcervical insertion of a Foley catheter balloon (n = 100). Membrane sweeping were done in all groups before induction. In the study by Gelisen, induction of labour was scheduled in the monitored group at 294 days, in our study at 300 days. They reported that birth weight > 4000 g, shoulder dystocia, meconium-stained amniotic fluid, and meconium aspiration syndrome were significantly more frequently occurring in the follow-up group. Their findings on birth weight were in line with our results, but we could not demonstrate statistically significant differences in any other outcomes.

The proportion of self-reported smoking during pregnancy was different in Study 1 and Study 2. In Study 1, 21% were smoking during pregnancy, but this proportion had dropped to 11-12% in study 2. Several factors may contribute to this difference. Pregnant women have quitted smoking quite dramatically in recent years. In 1987, Norway was on the top of the world list of smoking during pregnancy (35-40%) and in 1995 this proportion was

reduced to 20%.<sup>206</sup> The proportion of smokers in our well defined population was 27% between 1987-1992.<sup>207</sup>

Smokers have reduced risk to deliver post-term.<sup>48</sup> Study 1 included women from 37-43 weeks of gestation, but the information about smoking habits was given when they attended routine ultrasound at around 18 weeks. In Study 2 they were asked about their smoking habits at 41 weeks. Some women may quit smoking during pregnancy.

A limitation of our trial was that one third of the monitored women were induced because of medical indication. Induction for medical reasons was associated with increased intervention rates. The label of a "high-risk" pregnancy may have influenced the obstetrical decision making. The recognition of risk factors such as meconium-stained liquor resulted in the use of continuously electronic fetal monitoring rather than intermittent auscultation, and this may also have influenced intervention rates.<sup>208</sup> We did not record the frequency of tachysystole or hyperstimulation, but we found no increase in nonreassuring fetal status in the induction group.

It may be argued that stratification for parity should have been done in the trial, since nulliparous and parous women have different labour courses. We decided not to carry out a stratified allocation in the trial because we assumed that the process of randomisation would give a balanced distribution of nulliparous and parous women between study groups. Any subgroup analysis should be done with caution, and the trial was not powered to look at any subgroups. Thus, subgroup analyses were not done.

The introduction of a new score (NEMO score) to measure neonatal morbidity is debatable. Neonatal morbidity is a multifaceted phenomenon, and we chose to report commonly used and self-explanatory outcomes such as Apgar score, pH, base excess, excessive birth weight, presence of infection, hypoglycaemia etc. because neonatal morbidity was the primary outcome of the study. In addition, we reported statistics on cut-off values for variables commonly considered to represent poor obstetric outcome (umbilical cord pH <7.10 or 7.00 or base excess <12). However, we believe that a summarized score of morbidity is more clinical interesting than individual variables. This is also agreed by Caughey et al.<sup>92</sup>

If a universally accepted morbidity score had been available, we would have used it in the trial. However, most published neonatal scoring systems focus on preterm neonates admitted to NICU and/or address neonatal mortality. In our trial neonates were post-term, only a small group of children were admitted to the NICU, and mortality was therefore not the focus of our study. Thus, we found previous scores unsuitable for our purpose.

The proposed NEMO score is a sum of deviations from the optimal neonatal outcome. The weighting of the different variables may be debated, but they are transparent, and the scale itself may be interpreted from its components. Furthermore, the randomised design ensures that group comparison should be valid.

In addition we applied the score developed by Hannah et al. on our dataset.<sup>30</sup> An adjudication of the definition in the CMPP- trial was made after the first 1500 infants were born, and a consensus conference was held to define further the measures of neonatal morbidity.<sup>30</sup> This fact illustrates the complexity of the morbidity definition problem. In fact, Mary Hannah herself advised us not to use the CMPP-trial scoring system, and said "*it was completely useless* "(personal communication). We chose to report it anyway because we found it important to compare our results with the influential CMPP-trial. We do not know for sure that our score (NEMO score) is clinically more useful. Hannah et al. were unable to demonstrate any differences in morbidity with her scoring system in a study with 3400 women. It was probably too optimistic to believe that we could demonstrate any statistically significant difference in a study with 500 women, although power calculations based on pilot studies indicated that this could be possible. On the other hand, if it is impossible to demonstrate any statistical difference in a randomised trial with 500 women, one might argue that there is hardly any difference of clinical importance between the groups.

Not all data from Study 2 and 3 have been analysed, and we aim to study one or more of the following topics:

- Hormones in post-term pregnancy
- Cervical changes in post-term pregnancy
- Amniotic fluid measurements
- IGFBP-1, cervical ripening and time to delivery
- Smoking second trimester, post-term and post partum

# **10** Conclusions

In Study 1 we found that both post-term pregnancy and induction of labour were prognostic factors for poor outcome. In Study 2 we found no differences between neonatal morbidity and mode of delivery for post-term pregnancies managed expectantly with serial antenatal surveillance or by immediate induction of labour. The outcomes were generally good. In Study 3 we found that the majority of women preferred induction of labour, and their

experiences with labour induction were good. There was a significant decrease in NNTs to avoid IUFD and perinatal death from 41 weeks to 43 weeks, but the NNTs were quite high. We suggest that induction of labour should be offered at 41 weeks of gestation. However, expectant management is a legitimate option provided appropriate monitoring of pregnancy.

# 11 Final reflections and future aspects

In the following section I will share my thoughts and vision for the future. Some thoughts are based on evidence, others are more speculative.

There has been a shift in obstetric management during the last decade, and the proportion of induced labours is increasing worldwide. In a study from Minnesota, the increase in the induction rate for gestational age 37-41 was 130% between 1989 and 1998.<sup>169</sup> The gestational age distribution curve for induced births showed a marked shift to the left during the same period.<sup>169</sup> The mean gestational age associated with inductions in post-term pregnancies decreased from an average of 41.9 weeks in 1980 to 41.0 weeks in 1995 (p=0.001). In 1980 19% of all term deliveries were  $\geq$ 42 weeks' gestation and in 1995 this proportion had decreased to 2% (p=0.001).<sup>209</sup> One of the largest overall increases in inductions was found to be in inductions labelled as elective.<sup>209</sup> Caesarean on request and elective inductions both reflect the improved ability and wish to plan the timing of delivery. It has been proposed that women in the 21st century will claim their rights to choose how, where and by whom they should be delivered.<sup>210</sup> Modern women are used to plan their lives in detail, and schedule every hour of the day. Delivery is one of few unpredictable things in life. Many women find it unpleasant and fearful not to know when the labour starts, how painful it will be, how long it will last etc. One of the elements of uncertainty can be eliminated by induction of labour. Elective inductions will probably increase in the years to come.

In Study 2 we demonstrated that the outcomes were generally good when labour was induced at 41 weeks, and in Study 3 we found that induction was preferred by most women. In Study 1 we demonstrated that the risk of complications generally was at the lowest at gestational week 38-39. If the trend to induce at earlier gestational ages continues, one future RCT should compare labour induction at 39 weeks and 41 weeks.

Study 1 demonstrated that the complications at 39 weeks were low, but also that induction of labour was a risk factor for bad obstetric outcome. In a small randomised

controlled trial from Japan (N=194), labour was electively induced at 39 weeks or expectantly managed to 42 weeks.<sup>211</sup> In this trial, there was an increased incidence of meconium stained amniotic fluid and need for fetal resuscitation in the expectant group, but no statistical significant differences in neonatal outcome or caesarean delivery rate.<sup>211</sup>

A policy of early induction will implicate an enormous increase in the number of inductions, and medical consequences as well as logistic consequences have to be considered. It is difficult to do cost-benefit analyses of induction of labours. According to a Canadian study, the cost of delivery after induction of labour was increased compared to spontaneous onset of labour.<sup>212</sup> However, it is an interesting suggestion to be able to manage a great majority of deliveries. Perhaps a future obstetric department could be run mainly during daytime, where induction of labours and elective caesarean sections are scheduled. This might be cost saving, since human hospital resources could be used during daytime instead of weekends and nights. Obstetrics is the hallmark of emergency, and the activity and workload are the same 24 hours a day. A reduction of night-shifts among obstetricians and midwives may recruit young people to choose obstetrics. In our brand new department at St.Olavs Hospital, there are two identical delivery units. There are numerous delivery rooms, but there is a lack of staff and economy to operate two separate units 24 hours. A consequence analysis of a strategy of two department open during day-time and one in the evening/nights would be interesting. It is of course impossible to schedule every single delivery, and flexible working shifts will be necessary. However, the induction to delivery time may to some extent be estimated from parity and cervical ripening, and one delivery unit could be run on a 8-5 basis.

To follow this chain of thoughts further, one might imagine that the majority of women can have their labour induced on an out-patient basis. This may be a reasonable option for several reasons. One study demonstrated that a latency of approximately 15 hours after a single low dose of misoprostol can provide induction benefit and may minimize the problem of uterine tachysystole/hyperstimulation associated with repeated dosing.<sup>213</sup> A single dose of misoprostol was more effective than a single dose of prostaglandin gel for out-patient labour induction.<sup>213</sup> No differences in adverse outcomes were found between inpatient or outpatient induction of labour.<sup>214</sup> However, the women in the outpatient group reported significantly more satisfaction than the inpatient women.<sup>214</sup> In addition, the need of hospital resources will probably be reduced by an out-patient induction policy.

Risk assessment has become popular in modern medicine. To help women to decide whether to have their labour induced or not, individual risk assessments based on likelihoodratios would be helpful. A computer programme using individual information about parity,

cervical status, amount of amniotic fluid, gestational age and maternal age etc. could give individual risks of spontaneous delivery within a few days, caesarean delivery or poor obstetric outcome.

# 12 Corrections

Paper I:

Table 3- second column: Birth weight more than 4500 g

Table 4- \* deleted behind P value difference over gestational weeks

# **13 References**

- 1 Annotations. Princess Charlotte's confinement. Lancet 1951;14:627-8
- 2 WHO: recommended definitions, terminology and format for statistical tables related to the perinatal period and use of a new certificate for cause of perinatal deaths. Modifications recommended by FIGO as amended October 14, 1976. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1977;56(3):247-53
- 3 FIGO. Report of the FIGO Subcommittee on Perinatal Epidemiology and Health Statistics. London: FIGO; 1986.
- 4 Heimstad R, Salvesen K. Gjør vi som vi tror og sier ? In: Valbø A-L, ed. *Gynekologen*. Oslo: Norsk Gynekologisk Forening, 2003,2;60.
- 5 Meydanli MM, Caliskan E, Burak F, Narin MA, Atmaca R. Labor induction post-term with 25 micrograms vs. 50 micrograms of intravaginal misoprostol. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2003;81(3):249-55
- 6 Campbell MK, Ostbye T, Irgens LM. Post-term birth: risk factors and outcomes in a 10-year cohort of Norwegian births. *Obstet Gynecol* 1997;89(4):543-8
- 7 Mandruzzato G, Meir YJ, D'Ottavio G, Conoscenti G, Dawes GS. Computerised evaluation of fetal heart rate in post-term fetuses: long term variation. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1998;105(3):356-9
- 8 Baskett TF, Nagele F. Naegele's rule: a reappraisal. *BJOG* 2000;107(11):1433-5
- 9 Geirsson RT, Busby-Earle RM. Certain dates may not provide a reliable estimate of gestational age. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1991;98(1):108-9
- 10 Tunón K, Eik-Nes SH, Grøttum P. A comparison between ultrasound and a reliable last menstrual period as predictors of the day of delivery in 15,000 examinations. *Ultrasound ObstetGynecol* 1996;8(3):178-85
- 11 Blaas HG, Eik-Nes SH, Bremnes JB. The growth of the human embryo. A longitudinal biometric assessment from 7 to 12 weeks of gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet and Gynecol* 1998;12(5):346-54
- 12 Campbell S. The prediction of fetal maturity by ultrasonic measurement of the biparietal diameter. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw 1969;76(7):603-9
- 13 Taipale P, Hiilesmaa V. Predicting delivery date by ultrasound and last menstrual period in early gestation. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001;97(2):189-94
- 14 Backe B, Nakling J. Term prediction in routine ultrasound practice. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1994;73(2):113-8
- 15 Nguyen TH, Larsen T, Engholm G, Møller H. Evaluation of ultrasound-estimated date of delivery in 17,450 spontaneous singleton births: do we need to modify Naegele's rule? *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1999;14(1):23-8
- 16 Mongelli M, Wong YC, Venkat A, Chua TM. Induction policy and missed post-term pregnancies: a mathematical model. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2001;41(1):38-40
- 17 Saltvedt S, Almström H, Kublickas M, Reilly M, Valentin L, Grunewald C. Ultrasound dating at 12-14 or 15-20 weeks of gestation? A prospective cross-validation of established dating formulae in a population of in-vitro fertilized pregnancies randomized to early or late dating scan. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2004;24(1):42-50

- 18 Johnsen SL, Rasmussen S, Sollien R, Kiserud T. Fetal age assessment based on femur length at 10-25 weeks of gestation, and reference ranges for femur length to head circumference ratios. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2005;84(8):725-33
- 19 Johnsen SL, Rasmussen S, Sollien R, Kiserud T. Fetal age assessment based on ultrasound head biometry and the effect of maternal and fetal factors. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2004;83(8):716-23
- 20 Tunón K, Eik-Nes SH, Grøttum P, Von Düring V, Kahn JA. Gestational age in pregnancies conceived after in vitro fertilization: a comparison between age assessed from oocyte retrieval, crown-rump length and biparietal diameter. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2000;15(1):41-6
- 21 Gardosi J, Geirsson RT. Routine ultrasound is the method of choice for dating pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1998;105(9):933-6
- 22 Crowley P. Interventions for preventing or improving the outcome of delivery at or beyond term. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000;2:CD000170
- 23 Savitz DA, Terry JW, Dole N, Thorp JM, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH. Comparison of pregnancy dating by last menstrual period, ultrasound scanning, and their combination. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002;187(6):1660-6
- 24 Blondel B, Morin I, Platt RW, Kramer MS, Usher R, Bréart G. Algorithms for combining menstrual and ultrasound estimates of gestational age: consequences for rates of preterm and postterm birth. BJOG 2002;109(6):718-20
- 25 Neilson JP. Ultrasound for fetal assessment in early pregnancy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000;2:CD000182
- 26 Gardosi J, Vanner T, Francis A. Gestational age and induction of labour for prolonged pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1997;104(7):792-7
- 27 Eik-Nes SH, Salvesen KA, Okland O, Vatten LJ. Routine ultrasound fetal examination in pregnancy: the 'Alesund' randomized controlled trial. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2000;15(6):473-8
- 28 Ingemarsson I, Källén K. Stillbirths and rate of neonatal deaths in 76,761 postterm pregnancies in Sweden, 1982-1991: a register study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1997;76(7):658-62
- 29 Alexander JM, McIntire DD, Leveno KJ. Forty weeks and beyond: pregnancy outcomes by week of gestation. Obstet Gynecol 2000;96(2):291-4
- 30 Hannah ME, Hannah WJ, Hellmann J, Hewson S, Milner R, Willan A. Induction of labor as compared with serial antenatal monitoring in post-term pregnancy. A randomized controlled trial. The Canadian Multicenter Post-term Pregnancy Trial Group. N Engl J Med 1992;326(24):1587-92
- 31 Bergsjø P, Denman DW, Hoffman HJ, Meirik O. Duration of human singleton pregnancy. A population-based study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1990;69(3):197-207
- 32 Olesen AW, Thomsen SG. Prediction of delivery date by sonography in the first and second trimesters. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;28(3):292-7
- 33 Smith GC. Use of time to event analysis to estimate the normal duration of human pregnancy. *Hum Reprod* 2001;16(7):1497-500
- 34 Leppert PC. Anatomy and physiology of cervical ripening. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1995;38(2):267-79
- 35 Kallen K. Mid-trimester ultrasound prediction of gestational age: advantages and systematic errors. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2002;20:558-63
- 52

- 36 Larsen T, Nguyen TH, Greisen G, Engholm G, Møller H. Does a discrepancy between gestational age determined by biparietal diameter and last menstrual period sometimes signify early intrauterine growth retardation? *BJOG* 2000;107(2):238-44
- 37 Tunón K, Eik-Nes SH, Grøttum P. Fetal outcome when the ultrasound estimate of the day of delivery is more than 14 days later than the last menstrual period estimate. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 1999;14(1):17-22
- 38 Nakling J, Backe B. Adverse obstetric outcome in fetuses that are smaller than expected at second trimester routine ultrasound examination. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2002;81(9):846-51
- 39 Källén K. Increased risk of perinatal/neonatal death in infants who were smaller than expected at ultrasound fetometry in early pregnancy. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2004;24(1):30-4
- 40 Divon MY, Ferber A, Nisell H, Westgren M. Male gender predisposes to prolongation of pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002;187(4):1081-3
- 41 Kitlinski ML, Kallen K, Marsal K, Olofsson P. Skewed fetal gender distribution in prolonged pregnancy: fallacy with consequences. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2003;21:262-6
- 42 Divon MY, Haglund B, Nisell H, Otterblad PO, Westgren M. Fetal and neonatal mortality in the postterm pregnancy: the impact of gestational age and fetal growth restriction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;178(4):726-31
- 43 Van Eyk N, Allen LM, Sermer M, Davis VJ. Obstetric outcome of adolescent pregnancies. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology* 2000;13(2):96
- 44 Olesen AW, Basso O, Olsen J. An estimate of the tendency to repeat postterm delivery. *Epidemiology* 1999;10(4):468-9
- 45 Olesen AW, Basso O, Olsen J. Risk of recurrence of prolonged pregnancy. *BMJ* 2003;326(7387):476
- 46 Shea KM, Wilcox AJ, Little RE. Postterm delivery: a challenge for epidemiologic research. Epidemiology 1998;9(2):199-204
- 47 Olsen SF, Osterdal ML, Salvig JD et al. Eur J Epidemiol 2006;.
- 48 Henriksen TB, Wilcox AJ, Hedegaard M, Secher NJ. Bias in studies of preterm and postterm delivery due to ultrasound assessment of gestational age. *Epidemiology* 1995;6(5):533-7
- 49 Usha Kiran TS, Hemmadi S, Bethel J, Evans J. Outcome of pregnancy in a woman with an increased body mass index. *BJOG* 2005;112(6):768-72
- 50 Papiernik E, Alexander GR, Paneth N. Racial differences in pregnancy duration and its implications for perinatal care. *Med Hypotheses* 1990;33(3):181-6
- 51 Laursen M, Bille C, Olesen AW, Hjelmborg J, Skytthe A, Christensen K. Genetic influence on prolonged gestation: a population-based Danish twin study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004;190(2):489-94
- 52 Mogren I, Stenlund H, Högberg U. Recurrence of prolonged pregnancy. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28(2):253-7
- 53 Magnus P, Bakketeig LS, Skjaerven R. Correlations of birth weight and gestational age across generations. *Ann Hum Biol* 1993;20(3):231-8
- 54 Lie RT, Wilcox AJ, Skjoerven R. Maternal and paternal influences on length of pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 2006;107(4):880-5

- 55 Romero R, Scoccia B, Mazor M, Wu YK, Benveniste R. Evidence for a local change in the progesterone/estrogen ratio in human parturition at term. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988;159(3):657-60
- 56 Liapis A, Hassiakos D, Sarantakou A, Dinas G, Zourlas PA. The role of steroid hormones in cervical ripening. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol* 1993;20(3):163-6
- 57 Mesiano S. Roles of estrogen and progesterone in human parturition. *Frontiers of Hormone Research* 2001;27:86-104
- 58 Mitchell BF, Wong S. Changes in 17 beta,20 alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity supporting an increase in the estrogen/progesterone ratio of human fetal membranes at parturition. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993;168(5):1377-85
- 59 Elliott CL, Brennand JE, Calder AA. The effects of mifepristone on cervical ripening and labor induction in primigravidae. *Obstet Gynecol* 1998;92(5):804-9
- 60 Berkane N, Verstraete L, Uzan S, Boog G, Maria B. Use of mifepristone to ripen the cervix and induce labor in term pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2005;192(1):114-20
- 61 Mecenas CA, Giussani DA, Owiny JR et al. Production of premature delivery in pregnant rhesus monkeys by androstenedione infusion. *Nat Med* 1996;2(4):443-8
- 62 Maciulla J, Goolsby L, Racowsky C, Reed K. Maternal serum dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels and successful labor induction. *Obstet Gynecol* 1998;91(5 PT 1):771-3
- 63 Goolsby L, Schlecht K, Racowsky C, Gelety T, Reed K. Maternal serum dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels and the efficiency of labor in young nulliparas. *Obstet Gynecol* 1996;88(1):56-9
- 64 Sennström MB, Brauner A, Byström B, Malmström A, Ekman G. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 correlates with the cervical ripening process in humans. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2003;82(10):904-11
- 65 Törnblom SA, Patel FA, Byström B et al. 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase and cyclooxygenase 2 messenger ribonucleic acid expression and immunohistochemical localization in human cervical tissue during term and preterm labor. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2004;89(6):2909-15
- 66 Stygar D, Wang H, Vladic YS, Ekman G, Eriksson H, Sahlin L. Increased level of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 in the ripening process of the human cervix. *Biol Reprod* 2002;67(3):889-94
- 67 Helliwell RJ, Keelan JA, Marvin KW et al. Gestational age-dependent up-regulation of prostaglandin D synthase (PGDS) and production of PGDS-derived antiinflammatory prostaglandins in human placenta. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2006;91(2):597-606
- 68 Votta RA, Cibils LA. Active management of prolonged pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993;168(2):557-63
- 69 Kaplan B, Goldman GA, Peled Y, Hecht-Resnick R, Neri A, Ovadia J. The outcome of post-term pregnancy. A comparative study. J Perinat Med 1995;23(3):183-9
- Fabre E, González de Agüero R, de Agustín JL, Tajada M, Repollés S, Sanz A. Perinatal mortality in term and post-term births. *J Perinat Med* 1996;24(2):163-9
- 71 Roberts CL, Taylor L, Henderson-Smart D. Trends in births at and beyond term: evidence of a change? Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1999;106(9):937-42
- 72 Clausson B, Cnattingius S, Axelsson O. Outcomes of post-term births: the role of fetal growth restriction and malformations. *Obstet Gynecol* 1999;94(5 PT 1):758-62
- 54

- 73 Yudkin PL, Wood L, Redman CW. Risk of unexplained stillbirth at different gestational ages. *Lancet* 1987;1(8543):1192-4
- 74 Kramer MS, Liu S, Luo Z, Yuan H, Platt RW, Joseph KS. Analysis of perinatal mortality and its components: time for a change? *Am J Epidemiol* 2002;156(6):493-7
- 75 Hilder L, Costeloe K, Thilaganathan B. Prolonged pregnancy: evaluating gestation-specific risks of fetal and infant mortality. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1998;105(2):169-73
- 76 Joseph KS, Demissie K, Platt RW, Ananth CV, McCarthy BJ, Kramer MS. A parsimonious explanation for intersecting perinatal mortality curves: understanding the effects of race and of maternal smoking. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2004;4(1):7
- 77 Smith GC. Life-table analysis of the risk of perinatal death at term and post term in singleton pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001;184(3):489-96
- 78 Platt RW, Joseph KS, Ananth CV, Grondines J, Abrahamowicz M, Kramer MS. A proportional hazards model with time-dependent covariates and time-varying effects for analysis of fetal and infant death. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;160(3):199-206
- 79 Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR. Invited commentary: analysis of gestational-age-specific mortality--on what biologic foundations? *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;160(3):213-4 DISCUSSION 215
- 80 Griffiths M. Stillbirths and rate of neonatal deaths in 76,761 postterm pregnancies in Sweden, 1982-1991; a register study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1998;77(5):583-4
- 81 Cnattingius S, Taube A. Stillbirths and rate of neonatal deaths in 76,761 postterm pregnancies in Sweden, 1982-1991; a register study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1998;77(5):582-3
- 82 Cheung YB. On the definition of gestational-age-specific mortality. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;160(3):207-10
- 83 Gülmezoglu AM, Crowther CA, Middleton P. Induction of labour for improving birth outcomes for women at or beyond term. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006;4:CD004945
- 84 Nakling J, Backe B. Pregnancy risk increases from 41 weeks of gestation. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2006;85(6):663-8
- 85 Olesen AW, Westergaard JG, Olsen J. Perinatal and maternal complications related to postterm delivery: a national register-based study, 1978-1993. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2003;189(1):222-7
- 86 Roach VJ, Rogers MS. Pregnancy outcome beyond 41 weeks gestation. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1997;59(1):19-24
- 87 Ingemarsson I. State of the art- Handleggning av øverburen graviditet. Swedish Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2000;1:1-14
- 88 Luckas M, Buckett W, Alfirevic Z. Comparison of outcomes in uncomplicated term and post-term pregnancy following spontaneous labor. *J Perinat Med* 1998;26(6):475-9
- Campbell MK. Factors affecting outcome in post-term birth. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 1997;9(6):356-60
- 90 Wong SF, Chow KM, Ho LC. The relative risk of 'fetal distress' in pregnancy associated with meconium-stained liquor at different gestation. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2002;22(6):594-9

- 91 Thorngren-Jerneck K, Herbst A. Low 5-minute Apgar score: a population-based register study of 1 million term births. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001;98(1):65-70
- Caughey AB, Washington AE, Laros RK. Neonatal complications of term pregnancy: rates by gestational age increase in a continuous, not threshold, fashion. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2005;192(1):185-90
- 93 Kitlinski ML, Källén K, Marsál K, Olofsson P. Gestational age-dependent reference values for pH in umbilical cord arterial blood at term. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003;102(2):338-45
- 94 Shime J, Librach CL, Gare DJ, Cook CJ. The influence of prolonged pregnancy on infant development at one and two years of age: a prospective controlled study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1986;154(2):341-5
- 95 Shime J. Influence of prolonged pregnancy on infant development. J Reprod Med 1988;33(3):277-84
- 96 Field T, Dempsey J, Shuman HH. Five year follow-up of preterm respiratory distress syndrome and post-term postmaturity syndrome infants. In: Field, Sostek, eds. *Infants born at risk*. New York: Grune&Stratton, 1983; 317-35.
- 97 Lindstrøm K, Fernell E, Westgren M. Developmental data in preschool children born after prolonged pregnancy. Acta Paediatr 2005;94:1192-7
- 98 Hovi M, Raatikainen K, Heiskanen N, Heinonen S. Obstetric outcome in post-term pregnancies: time for reappraisal in clinical management. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2006;85(7):805-9
- 99 Alfirevic Z, Walkinshaw SA. A randomised controlled trial of simple compared with complex antenatal fetal monitoring after 42 weeks of gestation. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1995;102(8):638-43
- 100 Bochner CJ, Williams J, Castro L, Medearis A, Hobel CJ, Wade M. The efficacy of starting postterm antenatal testing at 41 weeks as compared with 42 weeks of gestational age. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988;159(3):550-4
- 101 Brown VA, Sawers RS, Parsons RJ, Duncan SL, Cooke ID. The value of antenatal cardiotocography in the management of high-risk pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1982;89(9):716-22
- 102 Pattison N, McCowan L. Cardiotocography for antepartum fetal assessment. The Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000;2:CD001068
- 103 Fossen D, Døssland S, Løvset T, Nergård A. Post-term pregnancy. In: Dalaker K, Nøstdal W, Nilsen ST, Løvset T, Jerve F, eds. *Veileder i fødselshjelp*. Oslo: Den norske lægeforening, 1998, 1; 103-5.
- 104 Stornes I. Management of prolonged pregnancy in Denmark. A questionnaire study. Ugeskr Laeger 1996;158(4):422-4
- 105 Sherer DM, Onyeije CI, Binder D, Bernstein PS, Divon MY. Uncomplicated baseline fetal tachycardia or bradycardia in postterm pregnancies and perinatal outcome. *Am J Perinatol* 1998;15(5):335-8
- 106 Weiner Z, Farmakides G, Schulman H, Kellner L, Plancher S, Maulik D. Computerized analysis of fetal heart rate variation in postterm pregnancy: prediction of intrapartum fetal distress and fetal acidosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1994;171(4):1132-8
- 107 Weiner Z, Farmakides G, Barnhard Y, Bar-Hava I, Divon MY. Doppler study of the fetal cardiac function in prolonged pregnancies. *Obstet Gynecol* 1996;88(2):200-2
- 108 Divon MY, Marks AD, Henderson CE. Longitudinal measurement of amniotic fluid index in postterm pregnancies and its association with fetal outcome. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1995;172(1 PT 1):142-6
- 56

- 109 Sylvestre G, Fisher M, Westgren M, Divon MY. Non-reassuring fetal status in the prolonged pregnancy: the impact of fetal weight. *Ultrasound Obstet and Gynecol* 2001;18(3):244-7
- 110 Onyeije CI, Divon MY. The impact of maternal ketonuria on fetal test results in the setting of postterm pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001;184(4):713-8
- 111 Cibils LA, Votta R. Clinical significance of fetal heart rate patterns during labor. IX: Prolonged pregnancy. J Perinat Med 1993;21(2):107-16
- 112 Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Induction of labour. Evidence-based Clinical Guideline. In: Calder AA, ed. *Guideline. Induction of labour*. London: RCOG Press, 2001, 9; 1-99.
- 113 Magann EF, Isler CM, Chauhan SP, Martin JN. Amniotic fluid volume estimation and the biophysical profile: a confusion of criteria. *Obstet Gynecol* 2000;96(4):640-2
- 114 Magann EF, Perry KG, Chauhan SP, Anfanger PJ, Whitworth NS, Morrison JC. The accuracy of ultrasound evaluation of amniotic fluid volume in singleton pregnancies: the effect of operator experience and ultrasound interpretative technique. J Clin Ultrasound 1997;25(5):249-53
- 115 Alfirevic Z, Luckas M, Walkinshaw SA, McFarlane M, Curran R. A randomised comparison between amniotic fluid index and maximum pool depth in the monitoring of post-term pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1997;104(2):207-11
- 116 Magann EF, Doherty DA, Field K, Chauhan SP, Muffley PE, Morrison JC. Biophysical profile with amniotic fluid volume assessments. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;104(1):5-10
- 117 Ross MG. Value of the amniotic fluid index compared with the single deepest pocket. Obstet Gynecol 2005;105(2):439-40
- 118 Morris JM, Thompson K, Smithey J et al. The usefulness of ultrasound assessment of amniotic fluid in predicting adverse outcome in prolonged pregnancy: a prospective blinded observational study. *BJOG* 2003;110(11):989-94
- 119 Chauhan SP, Doherty DD, Magann EF, Cahanding F, Moreno F, Klausen JH. Amniotic fluid index vs single deepest pocket technique during modified biophysical profile: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;191(2):661-7 DISCUSSION 667
- 120 Hofmeyr GJ, Gülmezoglu AM. Maternal hydration for increasing amniotic fluid volume in oligohydramnios and normal amniotic fluid volume. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2002;1:CD000134
- 121 Rizzo N, Farina A, Santarsiero G et al. Correlation among amniotic fluid index (AFI), cesarean section rate, and labor length in inducted pregnancies beyond 41 weeks' gestation with unfavorable cervix. Am J Perinatol 2000;17(6):319-24
- 122 Battaglia FC, Lubchenco LO. A practical classification of newborn infants by weight and gestational age. J Pediatr 1967;71(2):159-63
- 123 Skjaerven R, Gjessing HK, Bakketeig LS. Birthweight by gestational age in Norway. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2000;79(6):440-9
- 124 Ørskou J, Kesmodel U, Henriksen TB, Secher NJ. An increasing proportion of infants weigh more than 4000 grams at birth. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2001;80(10):931-6
- 125 Oian P. Big fetus--big problems? Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2000;120(16):1847
- 126 Irion O, Boulvain M. Induction of labour for suspected fetal macrosomia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000;2:CD000938

- 127 Gonen O, Rosen DJ, Dolfin Z, Tepper R, Markov S, Fejgin MD. Induction of labor versus expectant management in macrosomia: a randomized study. *Obstet Gynecol* 1997;89(6):913-7
- 128 Rasmussen S, Albrechtsen S, Irgens LM et al. Risk factors for unexplained antepartum fetal death in Norway 1967-1998. *Early Hum Dev* 2003;71(1):39-52
- 129 O'Reilly-Green CP, Divon MY. Receiver operating characteristic curves of sonographic estimated fetal weight for prediction of macrosomia in prolonged pregnancies. *Ultrasound ObstetGynecol* 1997;9(6):403-8
- 130 O'Reilly-Green CP, Divon MY. Receiver operating characteristic curves of ultrasonographic estimates of fetal weight for prediction of fetal growth restriction in prolonged pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999;181(5 PT 1):1133-8
- 131 Clausson B, Gardosi J, Francis A, Cnattingius S. Perinatal outcome in SGA births defined by customised versus population-based birthweight standards. *BJOG* 2001;108(8):830-4
- 132 ACOG Practice Bulletin. Clinical management guidelines for obstetricians-gynecologists. Management of Postterm Pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 2004;104(3):639-46
- 133 Weiner Z, Farmakides G, Schulman H, Casale A, Itskovitz-Eldor J. Central and peripheral haemodynamic changes in post-term fetuses: correlation with oligohydramnios and abnormal fetal heart rate pattern. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1996;103(6):541-6
- 134 Olofsson P, Saldeen P, Marsál K. Association between a low umbilical artery pulsatility index and fetal distress in labor in very prolonged pregnancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1997;73(1):23-9
- 135 Bar-Hava I, Divon MY, Sardo M, Barnhard Y. Is oligohydramnios in postterm pregnancy associated with redistribution of fetal blood flow? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1995;173(2):519-22
- 136 Bishop EH. Pelvis scoring for elective induction. Obstet Gynecol 1964;24(2):266-8
- 137 Harris BA, Huddleston JF, Sutliff G, Perlis HW. The unfavorable cervix in prolonged pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1983;62(2):171-4
- 138 Pandis GK, Papageorghiou AT, Ramanathan VG, Thompson MO, Nicolaides KH. Preinduction sonographic measurement of cervical length in the prediction of successful induction of labor. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2001;18(6):623-8
- 139 Alexander JM, MCIntire DD, Leveno KJ. Prolonged pregnancy: induction of labor and cesarean births. Obstet Gynecol 2001;97(6):911-5
- Shin KS, Brubaker KL, Ackerson LM. Risk of cesarean delivery in nulliparous women at greater than
  41 weeks' gestational age with an unengaged vertex. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004;190(1):129-34
- 141 Faltin-Traub EF, Boulvain M, Faltin DL, Extermann P, Irion O. Reliability of the Bishop score before labour induction at term. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2004;112(2):178-81
- 142 Elghorori MR, Hassan I, Dartey W, Abdel-Aziz E. A way to lend objectivity to Bishop score. J Obstet Gynaecol 2006;26(4):311-6
- 143 Rozenberg P, Goffinet F, Hessabi M. Comparison of the Bishop score, ultrasonographically measured cervical length, and fetal fibronectin assay in predicting time until delivery and type of delivery at term. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2000;182(1 PT 1):108-13
- 144 Ware V, Raynor BD. Transvaginal ultrasonographic cervical measurement as a predictor of successful labor induction. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2000;182(5):1030-2
- 58

- 145 Watson WJ, Stevens D, Welter S, Day D. Factors predicting successful labor induction. Obstet Gynecol 1996;88(6):990-2
- 146 Chandra S, Crane JM, Hutchens D, Young DC. Transvaginal ultrasound and digital examination in predicting successful labor induction. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001;98(1):2-6
- 147 Rane SM, Pandis GK, Guirgis RR, Higgins B, Nicolaides KH. Pre-induction sonographic measurement of cervical length in prolonged pregnancy: the effect of parity in the prediction of induction-to-delivery interval. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2003;22(1):40-4
- 148 Rovas L, Sladkevicius P, Strobel E, Valentin L. Reference data representative of normal findings at two-dimensional and three-dimensional gray-scale ultrasound examination of the cervix from 17 to 41 weeks' gestation. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;27(4):392-402
- 149 Brieger GM, Ning XH, Dawkins RR et al. Transvaginal sonographic assessment of cervical dynamics during the third trimester of normal pregnancy. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1997;76(2):118-22
- 150 Ramanathan G, Yu C, Osei E, Nicolaides KH. Ultrasound examination at 37 weeks' gestation in the prediction of pregnancy outcome: the value of cervical assessment. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2003;22(6):598-603
- 151 Rane SM, Guirgis RR, Higgins B, Nicolaides KH. Pre-induction sonographic measurement of cervical length in prolonged pregnancy: the effect of parity in the prediction of the need for Cesarean section. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2003;22(1):45-8
- 152 Gabriel R, Darnaud T, Chalot F, Gonzalez N, Leymarie F, Quereux C. Transvaginal sonography of the uterine cervix prior to labor induction. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2002;19(3):254-7
- 153 Pandis GK, Papageorghiou AT, Otigbah CM, Howard RJ, Nicolaides KH. Randomized study of vaginal misoprostol (PGE(1)) and dinoprostone gel (PGE(2)) for induction of labor at term. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2001;18(6):629-35
- 154 Gonen R, Degani S, Ron A. Prediction of successful induction of labor: comparison of transvaginal ultrasonography and the Bishop score. *European J of Ultrasound* 1998;7(3):183-7
- 155 Strobel E, Sladkevicius P, Rovas L, De Smet F, Karlsson ED, Valentin L. Bishop score and ultrasound assessment of the cervix for prediction of time to onset of labor and time to delivery in prolonged pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;28(3):298-305
- Eggebø TM, Gjessing LK, Heien C et al. Prediction of labor and delivery by transperineal ultrasound in pregnancies with prelabor rupture of membranes at term. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2006;27(4):387-91
- 157 Rovas L, Sladkevicius P, Strobel E, Valentin L. Three-dimensional power Doppler ultrasound assessment of the cervix for the prediction of successful induction of labor with prostaglandin in prolonged pregnancy. J Ultrasound Med 2005;24(7):933-9
- 158 Rovas L, Sladkevicius P, Strobel E, De Smet F, De Moor B, Valentin L. Three-dimensional ultrasound assessment of the cervix for predicting time to spontaneous onset of labor and time to delivery in prolonged pregnancy. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2006;28(3):306-11
- 159 Lockwood CJ, Senyei AE, Dische MR et al. Fetal fibronectin in cervical and vaginal secretions as a predictor of preterm delivery. N Engl J Med 1991;325(10):669-74

- 160 Husslein P, Ahner R. Term labor and post-term pregnancy can be predicted using fetal fibronectin (fFN) and IL-lb concentrations in cervicovaginal secretions of pregnant women. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2002;104(2):186
- 161 Ojutiku D, Jones G, Bewley S. Quantitative foetal fibronectin as a predictor of successful induction of labour in post-date pregnancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2002;101(2):143-6
- 162 Lockwood CJ, Moscarelli RD, Wein R, Lynch L, Lapinski RH, Ghidini A. Low concentrations of vaginal fetal fibronectin as a predictor of deliveries occurring after 41 weeks. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1994;171(1):1-4
- 163 Goffeng AR, Milsom I, Lindstedt G, Lundberg PA, Andersch B. Fetal fibronectin in vaginal fluid of women in prolonged pregnancy. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 1997;44(4):224-8
- 164 Mouw RJ, Egberts J, Kragt H, van Roosmalen J. Cervicovaginal fetal fibronectin concentrations: predictive value of impending birth in postterm pregnancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1998;80(1):67-70
- 165 Nuutila M, Hiilesmaa V, Kärkkäinen T, Ylikorkala O, Rutanen EM. Phosphorylated isoforms of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 in the cervix as a predictor of cervical ripeness. *Obstet Gynecol* 1999;94(2):243-9
- 166 Seyb ST, Berka RJ, Socol ML, Dooley SL. Risk of cesarean delivery with elective induction of labor at term in nulliparous women. *Obstet Gynecol* 1999;94(4):600-7
- 167 Maslow AS, Sweeny AL. Elective induction of labor as a risk factor for cesarean delivery among lowrisk women at term. *Obstet Gynecol* 2000;95(6 PT 1):917-22
- 168 Heffner LJ, Elkin E, Fretts RC. Impact of labor induction, gestational age, and maternal age on cesarean delivery rates. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003;102(2):287-93
- 169 MacDorman MF, Mathews TJ, Martin JA, Malloy MH. Trends and characteristics of induced labour in the United States, 1989-98. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2002;16(3):263-73
- 170 Tuveng J, Heimstad R, Urdal K, Eriksson AG. Cervical Ripening/Induction of labour. In: Sand S, ed. Guidelines for Obstetriscs. Oslo: Den Norske Lægeforening, 2006, 27; 152-6.
- Mackenzie IZ. Induction of labour at the start of the new millennium. *Reproduction* 2006;131(6):989-98
- 172 Kelly AJ, Kavanagh J, Thomas J. Castor oil, bath and/or enema for cervical priming and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2001;2:CD003099
- 173 Kavanagh J, Kelly AJ, Thomas J. Sexual intercourse for cervical ripening and induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001;2:CD003093
- 174 Schaffir J. Sexual intercourse at term and onset of labor. Obstet Gynecol 2006;107(6):1310-4
- 175 Smith CA. Homoeopathy for induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003;4:CD003399
- 176 Margulies M, Campos Pérez G, Voto LS. Misoprostol to induce labour. Lancet 1992;339(8784):64
- 177 Hofmeyr GJ, Gülmezoglu AM. Vaginal misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003;1:CD000941
- 178 Kelly AJ, Kavanagh J, Thomas J. Vaginal prostaglandin (PGE2 and PGF2a) for induction of labour at term. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003;4:CD003101
- 60

- 179 Crane JM, Butler B, Young DC, Hannah ME. Misoprostol compared with prostaglandin E2 for labour induction in women at term with intact membranes and unfavourable cervix: a systematic review. BJOG 2006;113(12):1366-76
- 180 Boulvain M, Stan C, Irion O. Membrane sweeping for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2005;1:CD000451
- 181 Tan PC, Jacob R, Omar SZ. Membrane sweeping at initiation of formal labor induction: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2006;107(3):569-77
- 182 de Miranda E, van der Bom JG, Bonsel GJ, Bleker OP, Rosendaal FR. Membrane sweeping and prevention of post-term pregnancy in low-risk pregnancies: a randomised controlled trial. *BJOG* 2006;113(4):402-8
- 183 Kelly AJ, Tan B. Intravenous oxytocin alone for cervical ripening and induction of labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2001;3:CD003246
- 184 Oscarsson ME, Amer-Wåhlin I, Rydhstroem H, Källén K. Outcome in obstetric care related to oxytocin use. A population-based study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2006;85(9):1094-8
- 185 Howarth GR, Botha DJ. Amniotomy plus intravenous oxytocin for induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001;3:CD003250
- 186 Bricker L, Luckas M. Amniotomy alone for induction of labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000;4:CD002862
- 187 Heden L, Ingemarsson I, Ahlstrøm H, Solum T. Induction of labor versus conservative management in prolonged pregnancy:controlled study. *International J of Feto-Matenal Medicine* 1991;4:231-6
- 188 Kaufman KE, Bailit JL, Grobman W. Elective induction: an analysis of economic and health consequences. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002;187(4):858-63
- 189 Goeree R, Hannah M, Hewson S. Cost-effectiveness of induction of labour versus serial antenatal monitoring in the Canadian Multicentre Postterm Pregnancy Trial. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association J 1995;152(9):1445-50
- 190 Skajaa K, Lyndrup J. Graviditas Prolongata. In: Skajaa K, Lyndrup J, eds. Guidelines, Sandbjergmødet. DSOG, 1997; 1-5.
- Maternal-Fetal Medicine comittee. Post-term pregnancy. J Soc Obstet Gynaecol Can 1997;19(6):646-50
- Menticoglou SM, Hall PF. Routine induction of labour at 41 weeks gestation: nonsensus consensus. BJOG 2002;109(5):485-91
- 193 Caritis SN, Thom E, McNellis D. Letter. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1995;172(1):241
- 194 Cleary-Goldman J, Bettes B, Robinson JN, Norwitz E, D'Alton ME, Schulkin J. Postterm pregnancy: practice patterns of contemporary obstetricians and gynecologists. *Am J Perinatol* 2006;23(1):15-20
- 195 Machin D, Campbell MJ, Fayers PM, Pinol APY. In: Sample size tables for clinical studies. Oxford: Blackwell Science, 1997
- 196 Augensen K, Bergsjø P, Eikeland T, Askvik K, Carlsen J. Randomised comparison of early versus late induction of labour in post-term pregnancy. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1987;294(6581):1192-5
- 197 Hofmeyr GJ, Gulmezoglu AM. Vaginal misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001;1:CD000941

- 198 Williams MC, Tsibris JC, Davis G, Baiano J, O'brien WF. Dose variation that is associated with approximated one-quarter tablet doses of misoprostol. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002;187(3):615-9
- 199 Bennett BB. Uterine rupture during induction of labor at term with intravaginal misoprostol. Obstet Gynecol 1997;89(5 PT 2):832-3
- 200 Kayani SI, Alfirevic Z. Induction of labour with previous caesarean delivery: where do we stand? Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18(6):636-41
- 201 Kiran TS, Chui YK, Bethel J, Bhal PS. Is gestational age an independent variable affecting uterine scar rupture rates? *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2006;126(1):68-71
- Hale RW, Zinberg S. Use of misoprostol in pregnancy. *N Engl J Med* 2001;344(1):59-60
- Goldberg AB, Greenberg MB, Darney PD. Misoprostol and pregnancy. N Engl J Med 2001;344(1):38-47
- 204 Friedman MA. Manufacturer's warning regarding unapproved uses of misoprostol. N Engl J Med 2001;344(1):61
- 205 Gelisen O, Caliskan E, Dilbaz S et al. Induction of labor with three different techniques at 41 weeks of gestation or spontaneous follow-up until 42 weeks in women with definitely unfavorable cervical scores. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2005;120(2):164-9
- 206 Nylander G, Haug K, Eriksson K. In: ODIN R, ed. Oslo: Helse-og Sosialdepartementet, 1995, 97
- 207 Tunón K, Eik-Nes SH, Grøttum P. The impact of fetal, maternal and external factors on prediction of the day of delivery by the use of ultrasound. *Ultrasound Obstet Gyneco* 1998;11(2):99-103
- 208 Vintzileos AM, Nochimson DJ, Guzman ER, Knuppel RA, Lake M, Schifrin BS. Intrapartum electronic fetal heart rate monitoring versus intermittent auscultation: a meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 1995;85(1):149-55
- 209 Yawn BP, Wollan P, McKeon K, Field CS. Temporal changes in rates and reasons for medical induction of term labor, 1980-1996. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001;184(4):611-9
- 210 Saunders N. Pregnancy in the 21st century: back to nature with a little assistance. *Lancet* 1997;349 Suppl 1:sI7-9
- 211 Amano K, Saito K, Shoda T, Tani A, Yoshihara H, Nishijima M. Elective induction of labor at 39 weeks of gestation: a prospective randomized trial. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 1999;25(1):33-7
- 212 Allen VM, O'Connell CM, Farrell SA, Baskett TF. Economic implications of method of delivery. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005;193(1):192-7
- 213 Meyer M, Pflum J, Howard D. Outpatient misoprostol compared with dinoprostone gel for preinduction cervical ripening: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;105(3):466-72
- 214 Biem SR, Turnell RW, Olatunbosun O, Tauh M, Biem HJ. A randomized controlled trial of outpatient versus inpatient labour induction with vaginal controlled-release prostaglandin-E2: effectiveness and satisfaction. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2003;25(1):23-31

# 14 Papers

Papers are not included due to copyright.

#### **Dissertations at the Faculty of Medicine, NTNU**

1977

- 1. Knut Joachim Berg: EFFECT OF ACETYLSALICYLIC ACID ON RENAL FUNCTION
- Karl Erik Viken and Arne Ødegaard: STUDIES ON HUMAN MONOCYTES CULTURED IN 2 VITRO

1978

- 3. Karel Bjørn Cyvin: CONGENITAL DISLOCATION OF THE HIP JOINT.
- 4. Alf O. Brubakk: METHODS FOR STUDYING FLOW DYNAMICS IN THE LEFT VENTRICLE AND THE AORTA IN MAN.

1979

- 5. Geirmund Unsgaard: CYTOSTATIC AND IMMUNOREGULATORY ABILITIES OF HUMAN BLOOD MONOCYTES CULTURED IN VITRO
- 1980
- 6. Størker Jørstad: URAEMIC TOXINS
- Arne Olav Jenssen: SOME RHEOLOGICAL, CHEMICAL AND STRUCTURAL PROPERTIES 7. OF MUCOID SPUTUM FROM PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE BRONCHITIS 1981

- 8. Jens Hammerstrøm: CYTOSTATIC AND CYTOLYTIC ACTIVITY OF HUMAN
- MONOCYTES AND EFFUSION MACROPHAGES AGAINST TUMOR CELLS IN VITRO 1983
- 9. Tore Syversen: EFFECTS OF METHYLMERCURY ON RAT BRAIN PROTEIN.
- 10. Torbjørn Iversen: SQUAMOUS CELL CARCINOMA OF THE VULVA.

1984

- 11. Tor-Erik Widerøe: ASPECTS OF CONTINUOUS AMBULATORY PERITONEAL DIALYSIS.
- 12. Anton Hole: ALTERATIONS OF MONOCYTE AND LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTIONS IN
- REALTION TO SURGERY UNDER EPIDURAL OR GENERAL ANAESTHESIA. 13. Terje Terjesen: FRACTURE HEALING AN STRESS-PROTECTION AFTER METAL PLATE
- FIXATION AND EXTERNAL FIXATION.
- 14. Carsten Saunte: CLUSTER HEADACHE SYNDROME.
- 15. Inggard Lereim: TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS AND THEIR CONSEQUENCES. 16. Bjørn Magne Eggen: STUDIES IN CYTOTOXICITY IN HUMAN ADHERENT
- MONONUCLEAR BLOOD CELLS.
- 17. Trond Haug: FACTORS REGULATING BEHAVIORAL EFFECTS OG DRUGS.

- 18. Sven Erik Gisvold: RESUSCITATION AFTER COMPLETE GLOBAL BRAIN ISCHEMIA.
- 19. Terje Espevik: THE CYTOSKELETON OF HUMAN MONOCYTES.
- 20. Lars Bevanger: STUDIES OF THE Ibc (c) PROTEIN ANTIGENS OF GROUP B STREPTOCOCCI.
- 21. Ole-Jan Iversen: RETROVIRUS-LIKE PARTICLES IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PSORIASIS.
- 22. Lasse Eriksen: EVALUATION AND TREATMENT OF ALCOHOL DEPENDENT BEHAVIOUR.
- 23. Per I. Lundmo: ANDROGEN METABOLISM IN THE PROSTATE.
- 1986
- 24. Dagfinn Berntzen: ANALYSIS AND MANAGEMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL PAIN
- 25. Odd Arnold Kildahl-Andersen: PRODUCTION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF MONOCYTE-DERIVED CYTOTOXIN AND ITS ROLE IN MONOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY.
- 26. Ola Dale: VOLATILE ANAESTHETICS.
- 1987
- 27. Per Martin Kleveland: STUDIES ON GASTRIN.
- 28. Audun N. Øksendal: THE CALCIUM PARADOX AND THE HEART.
- 29. Vilhjalmur R. Finsen: HIP FRACTURES
- 1988
- 30. Rigmor Austgulen: TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR: A MONOCYTE-DERIVED REGULATOR OF CELLULAR GROWTH.
- 31. Tom-Harald Edna: HEAD INJURIES ADMITTED TO HOSPITAL.
- 32. Joseph D. Borsi: NEW ASPECTS OF THE CLINICAL PHARMACOKINETICS OF METHOTREXATE.

- 33. Olav F. M. Sellevold: GLUCOCORTICOIDS IN MYOCARDIAL PROTECTION.
- 34. Terje Skjærpe: NONINVASIVE QUANTITATION OF GLOBAL PARAMETERS ON LEFT VENTRICULAR FUNCTION: THE SYSTOLIC PULMONARY ARTERY PRESSURE AND CARDIAC OUTPUT.
- 35. Eyvind Rødahl: STUDIES OF IMMUNE COMPLEXES AND RETROVIRUS-LIKE ANTIGENS IN PATIENTS WITH ANKYLOSING SPONDYLITIS.
- Ketil Thorstensen: STUDIES ON THE MECHANISMS OF CELLULAR UPTAKE OF IRON FROM TRANSFERRIN.
- 37. Anna Midelfart: STUDIES OF THE MECHANISMS OF ION AND FLUID TRANSPORT IN THE BOVINE CORNEA.
- 38. Eirik Helseth: GROWTH AND PLASMINOGEN ACTIVATOR ACTIVITY OF HUMAN GLIOMAS AND BRAIN METASTASES - WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA AND THE EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR.
- 39. Petter C. Borchgrevink: MAGNESIUM AND THE ISCHEMIC HEART.
- Kjell-Arne Rein: THE EFFECT OF EXTRACORPOREAL CIRCULATION ON SUBCUTANEOUS TRANSCAPILLARY FLUID BALANCE.
- 41. Arne Kristian Sandvik: RAT GASTRIC HISTAMINE.
- 42. Carl Bredo Dahl: ANIMAL MODELS IN PSYCHIATRY.

- 43. Torbjørn A. Fredriksen: CERVICOGENIC HEADACHE.
- 44. Rolf A. Walstad: CEFTAZIDIME.
- 45. Rolf Salvesen: THE PUPIL IN CLUSTER HEADACHE.
- 46. Nils Petter Jørgensen: DRUG EXPOSURE IN EARLY PREGNANCY.
- 47. Johan C. Ræder: PREMEDICATION AND GENERAL ANAESTHESIA IN OUTPATIENT GYNECOLOGICAL SURGERY.
- 48. M. R. Shalaby: IMMUNOREGULATORY PROPERTIES OF TNF-α AND THE RELATED CYTOKINES.
- 49. Anders Waage: THE COMPLEX PATTERN OF CYTOKINES IN SEPTIC SHOCK.
- 50. Bjarne Christian Eriksen: ELECTROSTIMULATION OF THE PELVIC FLOOR IN FEMALE URINARY INCONTINENCE.
- 51. Tore B. Halvorsen: PROGNOSTIC FACTORS IN COLORECTAL CANCER.

- 52. Asbjørn Nordby: CELLULAR TOXICITY OF ROENTGEN CONTRAST MEDIA.
- 53. Kåre E. Tvedt: X-RAY MICROANALYSIS OF BIOLOGICAL MATERIAL.
- 54. Tore C. Stiles: COGNITIVE VULNERABILITY FACTORS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF DEPRESSION.
- 55. Eva Hofsli: TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR AND MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE.
- 56. Helge S. Haarstad: TROPHIC EFFECTS OF CHOLECYSTOKININ AND SECRETIN ON THE RAT PANCREAS.
- 57. Lars Engebretsen: TREATMENT OF ACUTE ANTERIOR CRUCIATE LIGAMENT INJURIES.
- 58. Tarjei Rygnestad: DELIBERATE SELF-POISONING IN TRONDHEIM.
  59. Arne Z. Henriksen: STUDIES ON CONSERVED ANTIGENIC DOMAINS ON MAJOR OUTER
- MEMBRANE PROTEINS FROM ENTEROBACTERIA.
- Steinar Westin: UNEMPLOYMENT AND HEALTH: Medical and social consequences of a factory closure in a ten-year controlled follow-up study.
- 61. YIva Sahlin: INJURY REGISTRATION, a tool for accident preventive work.
- 62. Helge Bjørnstad Pettersen: BIOSYNTHESIS OF COMPLEMENT BY HUMAN ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGES WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO SARCOIDOSIS.
- 63. Berit Schei: TRAPPED IN PAINFUL LOVE.
- 64. Lars J. Vatten: PROSPECTIVE STUDIES OF THE RISK OF BREAST CANCER IN A COHORT OF NORWEGIAN WOMAN.
- 1991
- 65. Kåre Bergh: APPLICATIONS OF ANTI-C5a SPECIFIC MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION.
- 66. Svein Svenningsen: THE CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF INCREASED FEMORAL ANTEVERSION.
- 67. Olbjørn Klepp: NONSEMINOMATOUS GERM CELL TESTIS CANCER: THERAPEUTIC OUTCOME AND PROGNOSTIC FACTORS.

- 68. Trond Sand: THE EFFECTS OF CLICK POLARITY ON BRAINSTEM AUDITORY EVOKED POTENTIALS AMPLITUDE, DISPERSION, AND LATENCY VARIABLES.
- 69. Kjetil B. Åsbakk: STUDIES OF A PROTEIN FROM PSORIATIC SCALE, PSO P27, WITH RESPECT TO ITS POTENTIAL ROLE IN IMMUNE REACTIONS IN PSORIASIS.
- 70. Arnulf Hestnes: STUDIES ON DOWN'S SYNDROME.
- 71. Randi Nygaard: LONG-TERM SURVIVAL IN CHILDHOOD LEUKEMIA.
- 72. Bjørn Hagen: THIO-TEPA.
- 73. Svein Anda: EVALUATION OF THE HIP JOINT BY COMPUTED TOMOGRAMPHY AND ULTRASONOGRAPHY.
- 1992
- 74. Martin Svartberg: AN INVESTIGATION OF PROCESS AND OUTCOME OF SHORT-TERM PSYCHODYNAMIC PSYCHOTHERAPY.
- 75. Stig Arild Slørdahl: AORTIC REGURGITATION.
- Harold C Sexton: STUDIES RELATING TO THE TREATMENT OF SYMPTOMATIC NON-PSYCHOTIC PATIENTS.
- 77. Maurice B. Vincent: VASOACTIVE PEPTIDES IN THE OCULAR/FOREHEAD AREA.
- 78. Terje Johannessen: CONTROLLED TRIALS IN SINGLE SUBJECTS.
- 79. Turid Nilsen: PYROPHOSPHATE IN HEPATOCYTE IRON METABOLISM.
- 80. Olav Haraldseth: NMR SPECTROSCOPY OF CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA AND REPERFUSION IN RAT.
- Eiliv Brenna: REGULATION OF FUNCTION AND GROWTH OF THE OXYNTIC MUCOSA.
  1993
- 82. Gunnar Bovim: CERVICOGENIC HEADACHE.
- 83. Jarl Arne Kahn: ASSISTED PROCREATION.
- 84. Bjørn Naume: IMMUNOREGULATORY EFFECTS OF CYTOKINES ON NK CELLS.
- 85. Rune Wiseth: AORTIC VALVE REPLACEMENT.
- 86. Jie Ming Shen: BLOOD FLOW VELOCITY AND RESPIRATORY STUDIES.
- 87. Piotr Kruszewski: SUNCT SYNDROME WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE AUTONOMIC NERVOUS SYSTEM.
- 88. Mette Haase Moen: ENDOMETRIOSIS.
- 89. Anne Vik: VASCULAR GAS EMBOLISM DURING AIR INFUSION AND AFTER DECOMPRESSION IN PIGS.
- 90. Lars Jacob Stovner: THE CHIARI TYPE I MALFORMATION.
- 91. Kjell Å. Salvesen: ROUTINE ULTRASONOGRAPHY IN UTERO AND DEVELOPMENT IN CHILDHOOD.

- 92. Nina-Beate Liabakk: DEVELOPMENT OF IMMUNOASSAYS FOR TNF AND ITS SOLUBLE RECEPTORS.
- 93. Sverre Helge Torp: erbB ONCOGENES IN HUMAN GLIOMAS AND MENINGIOMAS.
- 94. Olav M. Linaker: MENTAL RETARDATION AND PSYCHIATRY. Past and present.
- 95. Per Oscar Feet: INCREASED ANTIDEPRESSANT AND ANTIPANIC EFFECT IN
- COMBINED TREATMENT WITH DIXYRAZINE AND TRICYCLIC ANTIDEPRESSANTS. 96. Stein Olav Samstad: CROSS SECTIONAL FLOW VELOCITY PROFILES FROM TWO-
- DIMENSIONAL DOPPLER ULTRASOUND: Studies on early mitral blood flow. 97. Bjørn Backe: STUDIES IN ANTENATAL CARE.
- 98. Gerd Inger Ringdal: QUALITY OF LIFE IN CANCER PATIENTS
- 99. Torvid Kiserud: THE DUCTUS VENOSUS IN THE HUMAN FETUS.
- 100.Hans E. Fjøsne: HORMONAL REGULATION OF PROSTATIC METABOLISM.
- 101.Eylert Brodtkorb: CLINICAL ASPECTS OF EPILEPSY IN THE MENTALLY RETARDED.
- 102.Roar Juul: PEPTIDERGIC MECHANISMS IN HUMAN SUBARACHNOID HEMORRHAGE.
- 103.Unni Syversen: CHROMOGRANIN A. Physiological and Clinical Role.

- 104.Odd Gunnar Brakstad: THERMOSTABLE NUCLEASE AND THE *nuc* GENE IN THE DIAGNOSIS OF *Staphylococcus aureus* INFECTIONS.
- 105. Terje Engan: NUCLÉAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE (NMR) SPECTROSCOPY OF PLASMA IN MALIGNANT DISEASE.
- 106.Kirsten Rasmussen: VIOLENCE IN THE MENTALLY DISORDERED.
- 107. Finn Egil Skjeldestad: INDUCED ABORTION: Timetrends and Determinants.
- 108. Roar Stenseth: THORACIC EPIDURAL ANALGESIA IN AORTOCORONARY BYPASS SURGERY.

109. Arild Faxvaag: STUDIES OF IMMUNE CELL FUNCTION in mice infected with MURINE RETROVIRUS.

- 110.Svend Aakhus: NONINVASIVE COMPUTERIZED ASSESSMENT OF LEFT VENTRICULAR FUNCTION AND SYSTEMIC ARTERIAL PROPERTIES. Methodology and some clinical applications.
- 111.Klaus-Dieter Bolz: INTRAVASCULAR ULTRASONOGRAPHY.
- 112. Petter Aadahl: CARDIOVASCULAR EFFECTS OF THORACIC AORTIC CROSS-CLAMPING.
- 113. Sigurd Steinshamn: CYTOKINE MEDIATORS DURING GRANULOCYTOPENIC INFECTIONS.
- 114. Hans Stifoss-Hanssen: SEEKING MEANING OR HAPPINESS?
- 115. Anne Kvikstad: LIFE CHANGE EVENTS AND MARITAL STATUS IN RELATION TO RISK AND PROGNOSIS OF CANSER.
- 116. Torbjørn Grøntvedt: TREATMENT OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC ANTERIOR CRUCIATE LIGAMENT INJURIES. A clinical and biomechanical study.
- 117. Sigrid Hørven Wigers: CLINICAL STUDIES OF FIBROMYALGIA WITH FOCUS ON ETIOLOGY, TREATMENT AND OUTCOME.
- 118.Jan Schjøtt: MYOCARDIAL PROTECTION: Functional and Metabolic Characteristics of Two Endogenous Protective Principles.
- 119. Marit Martinussen: STUDIES OF INTESTINAL BLOOD FLOW AND ITS RELATION TO TRANSITIONAL CIRCULATORY ADAPATION IN NEWBORN INFANTS.
- 120. Tomm B. Müller: MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA. 121. Rune Haaverstad: OEDEMA FORMATION OF THE LOWER EXTREMITIES.
- 122. Magne Børset: THE ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN MULTIPLE MYELOMA, WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO HEPATOCYTE GROWTH FACTOR.
- 123.Geir Smedslund: A THEORETICAL AND EMPIRICAL INVESTIGATION OF SMOKING, STRESS AND DISEASE: RESULTS FROM A POPULATION SURVEY.
- 1997
- 124. Torstein Vik: GROWTH, MORBIDITY, AND PSYCHOMOTOR DEVELOPMENT IN INFANTS WHO WERE GROWTH RETARDED *IN UTERO*.
- 125.Siri Forsmo: ASPECTS AND CONSEQUENCES OF OPPORTUNISTIC SCREENING FOR CERVICAL CANCER. Results based on data from three Norwegian counties.
- 126.Jon S. Skranes: CEREBRAL MRI AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL OUTCOME IN VERY LOW BIRTH WEIGHT (VLBW) CHILDREN. A follow-up study of a geographically based year cohort of VLBW children at ages one and six years.
- 127. Knut Bjørnstad: COMPUTERIZED ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY FOR EVALUTION OF CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE.
- 128.Grethe Elisabeth Borchgrevink: DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF WHIPLASH/NECK SPRAIN INJURIES CAUSED BY CAR ACCIDENTS.
- 129. Tor Elsås: NEUROPEPTIDES AND NITRIC OXIDE SYNTHASE IN OCULAR AUTONOMIC AND SENSORY NERVES.
- 130.Rolf W. Gråwe: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL AND NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVES ON SCHIZOPHRENIA.
- 131.Tonje Strømholm: CEREBRAL HAEMODYNAMICS DURING THORACIC AORTIC CROSSCLAMPING. An experimental study in pigs.
- 1998
- 132.Martinus Bråten: STUDIES ON SOME PROBLEMS REALTED TO INTRAMEDULLARY NAILING OF FEMORAL FRACTURES.
- 133.Ståle Nordgård: PROLIFERATIVE ACTIVITY AND DNA CONTENT AS PROGNOSTIC INDICATORS IN ADENOID CYSTIC CARCINOMA OF THE HEAD AND NECK.
- 134.Egil Lien: SOLUBLE RECEPTORS FOR **TNF** AND **LPS**: RELEASE PATTERN AND POSSIBLE SIGNIFICANCE IN DISEASE.
- 135. Marit Bjørgaas: HYPOGLYCAEMIA IN CHILDREN WITH DIABETES MELLITUS
- 136.Frank Skorpen: GENETIC AND FUNCTIONAL ANALYSES OF DNA REPAIR IN HUMAN CELLS.
- 137.Juan A. Pareja: SUNCT SYNDROME. ON THE CLINICAL PICTURE. ITS DISTINCTION FROM OTHER, SIMILAR HEADACHES.
- 138. Anders Angelsen: NEUROENDOCRINE CELLS IN HUMAN PROSTATIC CARCINOMAS AND THE PROSTATIC COMPLEX OF RAT, GUINEA PIG, CAT AND DOG.

- 139.Fabio Antonaci: CHRONIC PAROXYSMAL HEMICRANIA AND HEMICRANIA CONTINUA: TWO DIFFERENT ENTITIES?
- 140.Sven M. Carlsen: ENDOCRINE AND METABOLIC EFFECTS OF METFORMIN WITH SPECIAL EMPHASIS ON CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTORES.

- 141. Terje A. Murberg: DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS AND COPING AMONG PATIENTS WITH CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE.
- 142. Harm-Gerd Karl Blaas: THE EMBRYONIC EXAMINATION. Ultrasound studies on the development of the human embryo.
- 143.Noèmi Becser Andersen: THE CEPHALIC SENSORY NERVES IN UNILATERAL HEADACHES. Anatomical background and neurophysiological evaluation.
- 144.Eli-Janne Fiskerstrand: LASER TREATMENT OF PORT WINE STAINS. A study of the efficacy and limitations of the pulsed dye laser. Clinical and morfological analyses aimed at improving the therapeutic outcome.
- 145.Bård Kulseng: A STUDY OF ALGINATE CAPSULE PROPERTIES AND CYTOKINES IN RELATION TO INSULIN DEPENDENT DIABETES MELLITUS.
- 146. Terje Haug: STRUCTURE AND REGULATION OF THE HUMAN UNG GENE ENCODING URACIL-DNA GLYCOSYLASE.
- 147. Heidi Brurok: MANGANESE AND THE HEART. A Magic Metal with Diagnostic and Therapeutic Possibilites.
- 148. Agnes Kathrine Lie: DIAGNOSIS AND PREVALENCE OF HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS INFECTION IN CERVICAL INTRAEPITELIAL NEOPLASIA. Relationship to Cell Cycle Regulatory Proteins and HLA DQBI Genes.
- 149. Ronald Mårvik: PHARMACOLOGICAL, PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL STUDIES ON ISOLATED STOMACS.
- 150.Ketil Jarl Holen: THE ROLE OF ULTRASONOGRAPHY IN THE DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF HIP DYSPLASIA IN NEWBORNS.
- 151.Irene Hetlevik: THE ROLE OF CLINICAL GUIDELINES IN CARDIOVASCULAR RISK INTERVENTION IN GENERAL PRACTICE.
- 152.Katarina Tunòn: ULTRASOUND AND PREDICTION OF GESTATIONAL AGE.
- 153. Johannes Soma: INTERACTION BETWEEN THE LEFT VENTRICLE AND THE SYSTEMIC ARTERIES.
- 154. Arild Aamodt: DEVELOPMENT AND PRE-CLINICAL EVALUATION OF A CUSTOM-MADE FEMORAL STEM.
- 155. Agnar Tegnander: DIAGNOSIS AND FOLLOW-UP OF CHILDREN WITH SUSPECTED OR KNOWN HIP DYSPLASIA.
- 156.Bent Indredavik: STROKE UNIT TREATMENT: SHORT AND LONG-TERM EFFECTS
- 157. Jolanta Vanagaite Vingen: PHOTOPHOBIA AND PHONOPHOBIA IN PRIMARY
- HEADACHES
- 2000
- 158.Ola Dalsegg Sæther: PATHOPHYSIOLOGY DURING PROXIMAL AORTIC CROSS-CLAMPING CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES
- 159.xxxxxxxx (blind number)
- 160. Christina Vogt Isaksen: PRENATAL ULTRASOUND AND POSTMORTEM FINDINGS A TEN YEAR CORRELATIVE STUDY OF FETUSES AND INFANTS WITH DEVELOPMENTAL ANOMALIES.
- 161. Holger Seidel: HIGH-DOSE METHOTREXATE THERAPY IN CHILDREN WITH ACUTE LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA: DOSE, CONCENTRATION, AND EFFECT CONSIDERATIONS.
- 162. Stein Hallan: IMPLEMENTATION OF MODERN MEDICAL DECISION ANALYSIS INTO CLINICAL DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT.
- 163.Malcolm Sue-Chu: INVASIVE AND NON-INVASIVE STUDIES IN CROSS-COUNTRY SKIERS WITH ASTHMA-LIKE SYMPTOMS.
- 164.Ole-Lars Brekke: EFFECTS OF ANTIOXIDANTS AND FATTY ACIDS ON TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR-INDUCED CYTOTOXICITY.
- 165.Jan Lundbom: AORTOCORONARY BYPASS SURGERY: CLINICAL ASPECTS, COST CONSIDERATIONS AND WORKING ABILITY.
- 166.John-Anker Zwart: LUMBAR NERVE ROOT COMPRESSION, BIOCHEMICAL AND NEUROPHYSIOLOGICAL ASPECTS.
- 167.Geir Falck: HYPEROSMOLALITY AND THE HEART.

168. Eirik Skogvoll: CARDIAC ARREST Incidence, Intervention and Outcome.

- 169. Dalius Bansevicius: SHOULDER-NECK REGION IN CERTAIN HEADACHES AND CHRONIC PAIN SYNDROMES.
- 170.Bettina Kinge: REFRACTIVE ERRORS AND BIOMETRIC CHANGES AMONG UNIVERSITY STUDENTS IN NORWAY.
- 171. Gunnar Qvigstad: CONSEQUENCES OF HYPERGASTRINEMIA IN MAN
- 172. Hanne Ellekjær: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES OF STROKE IN A NORWEGIAN POPULATION. INCIDENCE, RISK FACTORS AND PROGNOSIS
- 173. Hilde Grimstad: VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND PREGNANCY OUTCOME.
- 174. Astrid Hjelde: SURFACE TENSION AND COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION: Factors influencing bubble formation and bubble effects after decompression.
- 175.Kjell A. Kvistad: MR IN BREAST CANCER A CLINICAL STUDY.
- 176. Ivar Rossvoll: ELECTIVE ORTHOPAEDIC SURGERY IN A DEFINED POPULATION. Studies on demand, waiting time for treatment and incapacity for work.
- 177.Carina Seidel: PROGNOSTIC VALUE AND BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS OF HEPATOCYTE GROWTH FACTOR AND SYNDECAN-1 IN MULTIPLE MYELOMA. 2001
- 2001
- 178. Alexander Wahba: THE INFLUENCE OF CARDIOPULMONARY BYPASS ON PLATELET FUNCTION AND BLOOD COAGULATION – DETERMINANTS AND CLINICAL CONSEQUENSES
- 179.Marcus Schmitt-Egenolf: THE RELEVANCE OF THE MAJOR hISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX FOR THE GENETICS OF PSORIASIS
- 180.Odrun Arna Gederaas: BIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN 5-AMINOLEVULINIC ACID BASED PHOTODYNAMIC THERAPY
- 181.Pål Richard Romundstad: CANCER INCIDENCE AMONG NORWEGIAN ALUMINIUM WORKERS
- 182.Henrik Hjorth-Hansen: NOVEL CYTOKINES IN GROWTH CONTROL AND BONE DISEASE OF MULTIPLE MYELOMA
- 183.Gunnar Morken: SEASONAL VARIATION OF HUMAN MOOD AND BEHAVIOUR 184.Bjørn Olav Haugen: MEASUREMENT OF CARDIAC OUTPUT AND STUDIES OF
- VELOCITY PROFILES IN AORTIC AND MITRAL FLOW USING TWO- AND THREE-DIMENSIONAL COLOUR FLOW IMAGING
- 185.Geir Bråthen: THE CLASSIFICATION AND CLINICAL DIAGNOSIS OF ALCOHOL-RELATED SEIZURES
- 186.Knut Ivar Aasarød: RENAL INVOLVEMENT IN INFLAMMATORY RHEUMATIC DISEASE. A Study of Renal Disease in Wegener's Granulomatosis and in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome
- 187. Trude Helen Flo: RESEPTORS INVOLVED IN CELL ACTIVATION BY DEFINED URONIC ACID POLYMERS AND BACTERIAL COMPONENTS
- 188.Bodil Kavli: HUMAN URACIL-DNA GLYCOSYLASES FROM THE UNG GENE: STRUCTRUAL BASIS FOR SUBSTRATE SPECIFICITY AND REPAIR
- 189.Liv Thommesen: MOLECULAR MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN TNF- AND GASTRIN-MEDIATED GENE REGULATION
- 190. Turid Lingaas Holmen: SMOKING AND HEALTH IN ADOLESCENCE; THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY, 1995-97
- 191.Øyvind Hjertner: MULTIPLE MYELOMA: INTERACTIONS BETWEEN MALIGNANT PLASMA CELLS AND THE BONE MICROENVIRONMENT
- 192. Asbjørn Støylen: STRAIN RATE IMAGING OF THE LEFT VENTRICLE BY ULTRASOUND. FEASIBILITY, CLINICAL VALIDATION AND PHYSIOLOGICAL ASPECTS
- 193. Kristian Midthjell: DIABETES IN ADULTS IN NORD-TRØNDELAG. PUBLIC HEALTH ASPECTS OF DIABETES MELLITUS IN A LARGE, NON-SELECTED NORWEGIAN POPULATION.
- 194. Guanglin Cui: FUNCTIONAL ASPECTS OF THE ECL CELL IN RODENTS
- 195. Ulrik Wisløff: CARDIAC EFFECTS OF AEROBIC ENDURANCE TRAINING: HYPERTROPHY, CONTRACTILITY AND CALCUIM HANDLING IN NORMAL AND FAILING HEART
- 196.Øyvind Halaas: MECHANISMS OF IMMUNOMODULATION AND CELL-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY INDUCED BY BACTERIAL PRODUCTS
- 197. Tore Amundsen: PERFUSION MR IMAGING IN THE DIAGNOSIS OF PULMONARY EMBOLISM

- 198. Nanna Kurtze: THE SIGNIFICANCE OF ANXIETY AND DEPRESSION IN FATIQUE AND PATTERNS OF PAIN AMONG INDIVIDUALS DIAGNOSED WITH FIBROMYALGIA: RELATIONS WITH QUALITY OF LIFE, FUNCTIONAL DISABILITY, LIFESTYLE, EMPLOYMENT STATUS, CO-MORBIDITY AND GENDER
- 199. Tom Ivar Lund Nilsen: PROSPECTIVE STUDIES OF CANCER RISK IN NORD-TRØNDELAG: THE HUNT STUDY. Associations with anthropometric, socioeconomic, and lifestyle risk factors
- 200. Asta Kristine Håberg: A NEW APPROACH TO THE STUDY OF MIDDLE CEREBRAL ARTERY OCCLUSION IN THE RAT USING MAGNETIC RESONANCE TECHNIQUES 2002
- 201.Knut Jørgen Arntzen: PREGNANCY AND CYTOKINES
- 202. Henrik Døllner: INFLAMMATORY MEDIATORS IN PERINATAL INFECTIONS
- 203. Asta Bye: LOW FAT, LOW LACTOSE DIET USED AS PROPHYLACTIC TREATMENT OF ACUTE INTESTINAL REACTIONS DURING PELVIC RADIOTHERAPY. A PROSPECTIVE RANDOMISED STUDY.
- 204.Sylvester Moyo: STUDIES ON STREPTOCOCCUS AGALACTIAE (GROUP B STREPTOCOCCUS) SURFACE-ANCHORED MARKERS WITH EMPHASIS ON STRAINS AND HUMAN SERA FROM ZIMBABWE.
- 205.Knut Hagen: HEAD-HUNT: THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF HEADACHE IN NORD-TRØNDELAG
- 206.LI LIXIN: ON THE REGULATION AND ROLE OF UNCOUPLING PROTEIN-2 IN INSULIN PRODUCING &-CELLS
- 207. Anne Hildur Henriksen: SYMPTOMS OF ALLERGY AND ASTHMA VERSUS MARKERS OF LOWER AIRWAY INFLAMMATION AMONG ADOLESCENTS
- 208. Egil Andreas Fors: NON-MALIGNANT PAIN IN RELATION TO PSYCHOLOGICAL AND ENVIRONTENTAL FACTORS. EXPERIENTAL AND CLINICAL STUDES OF PAIN WITH FOCUS ON FIBROMYALGIA
- 209.Pål Klepstad: MORPHINE FOR CANCER PAIN
- 210. Ingunn Bakke: MECHANISMS AND CONSEQUENCES OF PEROXISOME PROLIFERATOR-INDUCED HYPERFUNCTION OF THE RAT GASTRIN PRODUCING CELL
- 211.Ingrid Susann Gribbestad: MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING AND SPECTROSCOPY OF BREAST CANCER
- 212.Rønnaug Astri Ødegård: PREECLAMPSIA MATERNAL RISK FACTORS AND FETAL GROWTH
- 213. Johan Haux: STUDIES ON CYTOTOXICITY INDUCED BY HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS AND DIGITOXIN
- 214. Turid Suzanne Berg-Nielsen: PARENTING PRACTICES AND MENTALLY DISORDERED ADOLESCENTS
- 215. Astrid Rydning: BLOOD FLOW AS A PROTECTIVE FACTOR FOR THE STOMACH MUCOSA. AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY ON THE ROLE OF MAST CELLS AND SENSORY AFFERENT NEURONS

- 216.Jan Pål Loennechen: HEART FAILURE AFTER MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION. Regional Differences, Myocyte Function, Gene Expression, and Response to Cariporide, Losartan, and Exercise Training.
- 217.Elisabeth Qvigstad: EFFECTS OF FATTY ACIDS AND OVER-STIMULATION ON INSULIN SECRETION IN MAN
- 218.Arne Åsberg: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES IN HEREDITARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS: PREVALENCE, MORBIDITY AND BENEFIT OF SCREENING.
- 219. Johan Fredrik Skomsvoll: REPRODUCTIVE OUTCOME IN WOMEN WITH RHEUMATIC DISEASE. A population registry based study of the effects of inflammatory rheumatic disease and connective tissue disease on reproductive outcome in Norwegian women in 1967-1995.
- 220.Siv Mørkved: URINARY INCONTINENCE DURING PREGNANCY AND AFTER DELIVERY: EFFECT OF PELVIC FLOOR MUSCLE TRAINING IN PREVENTION AND TREATMENT
- 221. Marit S. Jordhøy: THE IMPACT OF COMPREHENSIVE PALLIATIVE CARE
- 222. Tom Christian Martinsen: HYPERGASTRINEMIA AND HYPOACIDITY IN RODENTS CAUSES AND CONSEQUENCES
- 223. Solveig Tingulstad: CENTRALIZATION OF PRIMARY SURGERY FOR OVARAIN CANCER. FEASIBILITY AND IMPACT ON SURVIVAL

- 224. Haytham Eloqayli: METABOLIC CHANGES IN THE BRAIN CAUSED BY EPILEPTIC SEIZURES
- 225. Torunn Bruland: STUDIES OF EARLY RETROVIRUS-HOST INTERACTIONS VIRAL DETERMINANTS FOR PATHOGENESIS AND THE INFLUENCE OF SEX ON THE SUSCEPTIBILITY TO FRIEND MURINE LEUKAEMIA VIRUS INFECTION
- 226. Torstein Hole: DOPPLER ECHOCARDIOGRAPHIC EVALUATION OF LEFT VENTRICULAR FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION
- 227. Vibeke Nossum: THE EFFECT OF VASCULAR BUBBLES ON ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION 228. Sigurd Fasting: ROUTINE BASED RECORDING OF ADVERSE EVENTS DURING
- ANAESTHESIA APPLICATION IN QUALITY IMPROVEMENT AND SAFETY 229.Solfrid Romundstad: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES OF MICROALBUMINURIA. THE
- NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY 1995-97 (HUNT 2) 230.Geir Torheim: PROCESSING OF DYNAMIC DATA SETS IN MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING
- 231. Catrine Ahlén: SKIN INFECTIONS IN OCCUPATIONAL SATURATION DIVERS IN THE NORTH SEA AND THE IMPACT OF THE ENVIRONMENT
- 232. Arnulf Langhammer: RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS, LUNG FUNCTION AND BONE MINERAL DENSITY IN A COMPREHENSIVE POPULATION SURVEY. THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY 1995-97. THE BRONCHIAL OBSTRUCTION IN NORD-TRØNDELAG STUDY
- 233. Einar Kjelsås: EATING DISORDERS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN NON-CLINICAL SAMPLES
- 234.Arne Wibe: RECTAL CANCER TREATMENT IN NORWAY STANDARDISATION OF SURGERY AND QUALITY ASSURANCE
- 2004
- 235. Eivind Witsø: BONE GRAFT AS AN ANTIBIOTIC CARRIER
- 236. Anne Mari Sund: DEVELOPMENT OF DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS IN EARLY ADOLESCENCE
- 237.Hallvard Lærum: EVALUATION OF ELECTRONIC MEDICAL RECORDS A CLINICAL TASK PERSPECTIVE
- 238.Gustav Mikkelsen: ACCESSIBILITY OF INFORMATION IN ELECTRONIC PATIENT RECORDS; AN EVALUATION OF THE ROLE OF DATA QUALITY
- 239. Steinar Krokstad: SOCIOECONOMIC INEQUALITIES IN HEALTH AND DISABILITY. SOCIAL EPIDEMIOLOGY IN THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY (HUNT), NORWAY
- 240.Arne Kristian Myhre: NORMAL VARIATION IN ANOGENITAL ANATOMY AND MICROBIOLOGY IN NON-ABUSED PRESCHOOL CHILDREN
- 241.Ingunn Dybedal: NEGATIVE REGULATORS OF HEMATOPOIETEC STEM AND PROGENITOR CELLS
- 242. Beate Sitter: TISSUE CHARACTERIZATION BY HIGH RESOLUTION MAGIC ANGLE SPINNING MR SPECTROSCOPY
- 243.Per Arne Aas: MACROMOLECULAR MAINTENANCE IN HUMAN CELLS REPAIR OF URACIL IN DNA AND METHYLATIONS IN DNA AND RNA
- 244.Anna Bofin: FINE NEEDLE ASPIRATION CYTOLOGY IN THE PRIMARY INVESTIGATION OF BREAST TUMOURS AND IN THE DETERMINATION OF TREATMENT STRATEGIES
- 245.Jim Aage Nøttestad: DEINSTITUTIONALIZATION AND MENTAL HEALTH CHANGES AMONG PEOPLE WITH MENTAL RETARDATION
- 246.Reidar Fossmark: GASTRIC CANCER IN JAPANESE COTTON RATS
- 247. Wibeke Nordhøy: MANGANESE AND THE HEART, INTRACELLULAR MR RELAXATION AND WATER EXCHANGE ACROSS THE CARDIAC CELL MEMBRANE 2005
- 248.Sturla Molden: QUANTITATIVE ANALYSES OF SINGLE UNITS RECORDED FROM THE HIPPOCAMPUS AND ENTORHINAL CORTEX OF BEHAVING RATS
- 249. Wenche Brenne Drøyvold: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES ON WEIGHT CHANGE AND HEALTH IN A LARGE POPULATION. THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY (HUNT)
- 250.Ragnhild Støen: ENDOTHELIUM-DEPENDENT VASODILATION IN THE FEMORAL ARTERY OF DEVELOPING PIGLETS

- 251.Aslak Steinsbekk: HOMEOPATHY IN THE PREVENTION OF UPPER RESPIRATORY TRACT INFECTIONS IN CHILDREN
- 252.Hill-Aina Steffenach: MEMORY IN HIPPOCAMPAL AND CORTICO-HIPPOCAMPAL CIRCUITS
- 253. Eystein Stordal: ASPECTS OF THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DEPRESSIONS BASED ON SELF-RATING IN A LARGE GENERAL HEALTH STUDY (THE HUNT-2 STUDY)
- 254. Viggo Pettersen: FROM MUSCLES TO SINGING: THE ACTIVITY OF ACCESSORY BREATHING MUSCLES AND THORAX MOVEMENT IN CLASSICAL SINGING
- 255. Marianne Fyhn: SPATIAL MAPS IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS AND ENTORHINAL CORTEX
- 256. Robert Valderhaug: OBSESSIVE-COMPULSIVE DISORDER AMONG CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS: CHARACTERISTICS AND PSYCHOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS IN OUTPATIENT PSYCHIATRIC CLINICS
- 257.Erik Skaaheim Haug: INFRARENAL ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS COMORBIDITY AND RESULTS FOLLOWING OPEN SURGERY
- 258.Daniel Kondziella: GLIAL-NEURONAL INTERACTIONS IN EXPERIMENTAL BRAIN DISORDERS
- 259. Vegard Heimly Brun: ROUTES TO SPATIAL MEMORY IN HIPPOCAMPAL PLACE CELLS
- 260.Kenneth McMillan: PHYSIOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT AND TRAINING OF ENDURANCE AND STRENGTH IN PROFESSIONAL YOUTH SOCCER PLAYERS
- 261. Marit Sæbø Indredavik: MENTAL HEALTH AND CEREBRAL MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN ADOLESCENTS WITH LOW BIRTH WEIGHT
- 262.Ole Johan Kemi: ON THE CELLULAR BASIS OF AEROBIC FITNESS, INTENSITY-DEPENDENCE AND TIME-COURSE OF CARDIOMYOCYTE AND ENDOTHELIAL ADAPTATIONS TO EXERCISE TRAINING
- 263.Eszter Vanky: POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME METFORMIN TREATMENT IN PREGNANCY
- 264.Hild Fjærtoft: EXTENDED STROKE UNIT SERVICE AND EARLY SUPPORTED DISCHARGE. SHORT AND LONG-TERM EFFECTS
- 265.Grete Dyb: POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS REACTIONS IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS 266.Vidar Fykse: SOMATOSTATIN AND THE STOMACH
- 267.Kirsti Berg: OXIDATIVE STRESS AND THE ISCHEMIC HEART: A STUDY IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING CORONARY REVASCULARIZATION
- 268.Björn Inge Gustafsson: THE SEROTONIN PRODUCING ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELL, AND EFFECTS OF HYPERSEROTONINEMIA ON HEART AND BONE
- 2006
- 269. Torstein Baade Rø: EFFECTS OF BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS, HEPATOCYTE GROWTH FACTOR AND INTERLEUKIN-21 IN MULTIPLE MYELOMA
- 270.May-Britt Tessem: METABOLIC EFFECTS OF ULTRAVIOLET RADIATION ON THE ANTERIOR PART OF THE EYE
- 271. Anne-Sofie Helvik: COPING AND EVERYDAY LIFE IN A POPULATION OF ADULTS WITH HEARING IMPAIRMENT
- 272. Therese Standal: MULTIPLE MYELOMA: THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN MALIGNANT PLASMA CELLS AND THE BONE MARROW MICROENVIRONMENT
- 273. Ingvild Saltvedt: TREATMENT OF ACUTELY SICK, FRAIL ELDERLY PATIENTS IN A GERIATRIC EVALUATION AND MANAGEMENT UNIT – RESULTS FROM A PROSPECTIVE RANDOMISED TRIAL
- 274.Birger Henning Endreseth: STRATEGIES IN RECTAL CANCER TREATMENT FOCUS ON EARLY RECTAL CANCER AND THE INFLUENCE OF AGE ON PROGNOSIS
- 275. Anne Mari Aukan Rokstad: ALGINATE CAPSULES AS BIOREACTORS FOR CELL THERAPY
- 276.Mansour Akbari: HUMAN BASE EXCISION REPAIR FOR PRESERVATION OF GENOMIC STABILITY
- 277. Stein Sundstrøm: IMPROVING TREATMENT IN PATIENTS WITH LUNG CANCER RESULTS FROM TWO MULITCENTRE RANDOMISED STUDIES
- 278.Hilde Pleym: BLEEDING AFTER CORONARY ARTERY BYPASS SURGERY STUDIES ON HEMOSTATIC MECHANISMS, PROPHYLACTIC DRUG TREATMENT AND EFFECTS OF AUTOTRANSFUSION
- 279.Line Merethe Oldervoll: PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE INTERVENTIONS IN CANCER PATIENTS
- 280.Boye Welde: THE SIGNIFICANCE OF ENDURANCE TRAINING, RESISTANCE TRAINING AND MOTIVATIONAL STYLES IN ATHLETIC PERFORMANCE AMONG ELITE JUNIOR CROSS-COUNTRY SKIERS
- 281.Per Olav Vandvik: IRRITABLE BOWEL SYNDROME IN NORWAY, STUDIES OF PREVALENCE, DIAGNOSIS AND CHARACTERISTICS IN GENERAL PRACTICE AND IN THE POPULATION
- 282.Idar Kirkeby-Garstad: CLINICAL PHYSIOLOGY OF EARLY MOBILIZATION AFTER CARDIAC SURGERY
- 283.Linn Getz: SUSTAINABLE AND RESPONSIBLE PREVENTIVE MEDICINE. CONCEPTUALISING ETHICAL DILEMMAS ARISING FROM CLINICAL IMPLEMENTATION OF ADVANCING MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY
- 284.Eva Tegnander: DETECTION OF CONGENITAL HEART DEFECTS IN A NON-SELECTED POPULATION OF 42,381 FETUSES
- 285.Kristin Gabestad Nørsett: GENE EXPRESSION STUDIES IN GASTROINTESTINAL PATHOPHYSIOLOGY AND NEOPLASIA
- 286.Per Magnus Haram: GENETIC VS. AQUIRED FITNESS: METABOLIC, VASCULAR AND CARDIOMYOCYTE ADAPTATIONS
- 287. Agneta Johansson: GENERAL RISK FACTORS FOR GAMBLING PROBLEMS AND THE PREVALENCE OG PATHOLOGICAL GAMBLING IN NORWAY
- 288. Svein Artur Jensen: THE PREVALENCE OF SYMPTOMATIC ARTERIAL DISEASE OF THE LOWER LIMB
- 289.Charlotte Björk Ingul: QUANITIFICATION OF REGIONAL MYOCARDIAL FUNCTION BY STRAIN RATE AND STRAIN FOR EVALUATION OF CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE. AUTOMATED VERSUS MANUAL ANALYSIS DURING ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION AND DOBUTAMINE STRESS ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY
- 290. Jakob Nakling: RESULTS AND CONSEQUENCES OF ROUTINE ULTRASOUND SCREENING IN PREGNANCY – A GEOGRAPHIC BASED POPULATION STUDY
- 291.Anne Engum: DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY THEIR RELATIONS TO THYROID DYSFUNCTION AND DIABETES IN A LARGE EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDY
- 292.Ottar Bjerkeset: ANXIETY AND DEPRESSION IN THE GENERAL POPULATION: RISK FACTORS, INTERVENTION AND OUTCOME – THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDY (HUNT)
- 293.Jon Olav Drogset: RESULTS AFTER SURGICAL TREATMENT OF ANTERIOR CRUCIATE LIGAMENT INJURIES A CLINICAL STUDY
- 294.Lars Fosse: MECHANICAL BEHAVIOUR OF COMPACTED MORSELLISED BONE AN EXPERIMENTAL IN VITRO STUDY
- 295.Gunilla Klensmeden Fosse: MENTAL HEALTH OF PSYCHIATRIC OUTPATIENTS BULLIED IN CHILDHOOD
- 296.Paul Jarle Mork: MUSCLE ACTIVITY IN WORK AND LEISURE AND ITS ASSOCIATION TO MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN
- 297.Björn Stenström: LESSONS FROM RODENTS: I: MECHANISMS OF OBESITY SURGERY ROLE OF STOMACH. II: CARCINOGENIC EFFECTS OF *HELICOBACTER PYLORI* AND SNUS IN THE STOMACH

2007

- 298.Haakon R. Skogseth: INVASIVE PROPERTIES OF CANCER A TREATMENT TARGET ? IN VITRO STUDIES IN HUMAN PROSTATE CANCER CELL LINES
- 299.Janniche Hammer: GLUTAMATE METABOLISM AND CYCLING IN MESIAL TEMPORAL LOBE EPILEPSY
- 300.May Britt Drugli: YOUNG CHILDREN TREATED BECAUSE OF ODD/CD: CONDUCT PROBLEMS AND SOCIAL COMPETENCIES IN DAY-CARE AND SCHOOL SETTINGS
- 301.Ame Skjold: MAGNETIC RESONANCE KINETICS OF MANGANESE DIPYRIDOXYL DIPHOSPHATE (MnDPDP) IN HUMAN MYOCARDIUM. STUDIES IN HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS AND IN PATIENTS WITH RECENT MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION
- 302.Siri Malm: LEFT VENTRICULAR SYSTOLIC FUNCTION AND MYOCARDIAL PERFUSION ASSESSED BY CONTRAST ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY
- 303. Valentina Maria do Rosario Cabral Iversen: MENTAL HEALTH AND PSYCHOLOGICAL ADAPTATION OF CLINICAL AND NON-CLINICAL MIGRANT GROUPS
- 304.Lasse Løvstakken: SIGNAL PROCESSING IN DIAGNOSTIC ULTRASOUND: ALGORITHMS FOR REAL-TIME ESTIMATION AND VISUALIZATION OF BLOOD FLOW VELOCITY

- 305.Elisabeth Olstad: GLUTAMATE AND GABA: MAJOR PLAYERS IN NEURONAL METABOLISM
- 306. Lilian Leistad: THE ROLE OF CYTOKINES AND PHOSPHOLIPASE  ${\rm A}_{28}$  IN ARTICULAR CARTILAGE CHONDROCYTES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS AND OSTEOARTHRITIS
- 307.Arne Vaaler: EFFECTS OF PSYCHIATRIC INTENSIVE CARE UNIT IN AN ACUTE PSYCIATHRIC WARD

308.Mathias Toft: GENETIC STUDIES OF LRRK2 AND PINK1 IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE 309.Ingrid Løvold Mostad: IMPACT OF DIETARY FAT QUANTITY AND QUALITY IN TYPE 2

- DIABETES WITH EMPHASIS ON MARINE N-3 FATTY ACIDS
- 310. Torill Eidhammer Sjøbakk: MR DETERMINED BRAIN METABOLIC PATTERN IN PATIENTS WITH BRAIN METASTASES AND ADOLESCENTS WITH LOW BIRTH WEIGHT
- 311. Vidar Beisvåg: PHYSIOLOGICAL GENOMICS OF HEART FAILURE: FROM TECHNOLOGY TO PHYSIOLOGY
- 312.Olav Magnus Søndenå Fredheim: HEALTH RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE ASSESSMENT AND ASPECTS OF THE CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY OF METHADONE IN PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC NON-MALIGNANT PAIN
- 313. Anne Brantberg: FETAL AND PERINATAL IMPLICATIONS OF ANOMALIES IN THE GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT AND THE ABDOMINAL WALL
- 314.Erik Solligård: GUT LUMINAL MICRODIALYSIS
- 315.Elin Tollefsen: RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS IN A COMPREHENSIVE POPULATION BASED STUDY AMONG ADOLESCENTS 13-19 YEARS. YOUNG-HUNT 1995-97 AND 2000-01; THE NORD-TRØNDELAG HEALTH STUDIES (HUNT)
- 316. Anne-Tove Brenne: GROWTH REGULATION OF MYELOMA CELLS
- 317.Heidi Knobel: FATIGUE IN CANCER TREATMENT ASSESSMENT, COURSE AND ETIOLOGY
- 318. Torbjørn Dahl: CAROTID ARTERY STENOSIS. DIAGNOSTIC AND THERAPEUTIC ASPECTS
- 319.Inge-Andre Rasmussen jr.: FUNCTIONAL AND DIFFUSION TENSOR MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN NEUROSURGICAL PATIENTS
- 320. Grete Helen Bratberg: PUBERTAL TIMING ANTECEDENT TO RISK OR RESILIENCE ? EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES ON GROWTH, MATURATION AND HEALTH RISK BEHAVIOURS; THE YOUNG HUNT STUDY, NORD-TRØNDELAG, NORWAY
- 321. Sveinung Sørhaug: THE PULMONARY NEUROENDOCRINE SYSTEM. PHYSIOLOGICAL, PATHOLOGICAL AND TUMOURIGENIC ASPECTS
- 322.Olav Sande Eftedal: ULTRASONIC DETECTION OF DECOMPRESSION INDUCED VASCULAR MICROBUBBLES
- 323.Rune Bang Leistad: PAIN, AUTONOMIC ACTIVATION AND MUSCULAR ACTIVITY RELATED TO EXPERIMENTALLY-INDUCED COGNITIVE STRESS IN HEADACHE PATIENTS
- 324.Svein Brekke: TECHNIQUES FOR ENHANCEMENT OF TEMPORAL RESOLUTION IN THREE-DIMENSIONAL ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY
- 325. Kristian Bernhard Nilsen: AUTONOMIC ACTIVATION AND MUSCLE ACTIVITY IN RELATION TO MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN
- 326.Anne Irene Hagen: HEREDITARY BREAST CANCER IN NORWAY. DETECTION AND PROGNOSIS OF BREAST CANCER IN FAMILIES WITH *BRCA1*GENE MUTATION
- 327. Ingebjørg S. Juel : INTESTINAL INJURY AND RECOVERY AFTER ISCHEMIA. AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY ON RESTITUTION OF THE SURFACE EPITHELIUM, INTESTINAL PERMEABILITY, AND RELEASE OF BIOMARKERS FROM THE MUCOSA
- 328. Runa Heimstad: POST-TERM PREGNANCY